

# LUND UNIVERSITY

#### Macromolecular Engineering by Surface-Initiated ATRP:

#### New Nanomaterials for Bioapplications

Jiang, Lingdong

2018

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

#### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Jiang, L. (2018). *Macromolecular Engineering by Surface-Initiated ATRP: New Nanomaterials for Bioapplications*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Pure and Applied Biochemistry]. Division of Pure and Applied Biochemistry, Lund University, Sweden.

Total number of authors: 1

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
   You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Macromolecular Engineering by Surface-Initiated ATRP:

New Nanomaterials for Bioapplications

Lingdong Jiang



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Engineering, Lund University, Sweden.

To be defended on Tuesday, 23<sup>rd</sup> October 2018 at 9.15 a.m. in Lecture Hall B at the Center for Chemistry and Chemical Engineering, Naturvetarvägen 16, Lund.

Faculty opponent

Prof. Cameron Alexander, Division of Molecular Therapeutics and Formulation, Faculty of Science, University of Nottingham, UK.

Organization	Document name		
LUND UNIVERSITY	DOCTORAL DISSERT	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION	
Division of Pure and Applied Biochemistry	Date of issue		
P.O.Box 124	2018-10-23		
SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden			
Author(s) Lingdong Jiang	Sponsoring organization	n	
	The Swedish Research	Council FORMAS	
Title and subtitle			
Macromolecular Engineering by Surface-Initiated ATRF	P: New Nanomaterials for Bioa	applications	
Abstract			
The objective of this thesis is to investigate the synthesis desirable functionality via surface-initiated atom trabioapplications.	sis of well-defined polymer name ansfer radical polymerization	nohybrid materials bearing (SI-ATRP) for potential	
SI-ATRP is an excellent controlled radical polymerization by growing polymer brushes (chains) from an interface, topology, and functionality. Polymer brushes have pro drug delivery, tissue engineering, biosensors as well as	on (CRP) method for the synthe , which allows precise control ven to be attractive platforms s bioseparation.	esis of polymer nanohybrid over polymer composition, a for applications spanning	
Copper(I)-catalyzed alkyne-azide cycloaddition (CuAAC fabrication and post-polymerization modification of pol reaction yields, benign reaction conditions, and tolerand	C) click reaction has been wid lymer nanohybrid due to som ce to diverse functional groups	lely applied for the design, e important features: high s.	
followed by post-polymerization functionalization of applications. Specifically, thermo-responsive polyme (pNIPAm) and poly(glycidyl methacrylate) (pGMA) wer	the polymer brushes via c r brushes composed of por re grafted from silica papopar	lick reaction for different bly(N-isopropylacrylamide)	
amount of boronic acid ligands and iminodiacetate (I through the high-efficiency click reaction for the enri- respectively. The polymer nanohybrids were character content, densities of polymer chains and the affinity lig (DLS), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), transmissi spectroscopy (FT-IR), elemental analysis, therm chromatography (GPC). The nanocomposites showed h proteins due to the dense ligands immobilized on the lo rapid protein transport to binding sites. The synthetic ap for the development of more efficient adsorbents for bio	DA) ligands were introduced chment of glycoproteins and ized to determine the particle gands via techniques includin on electron microscopy (TEM) ogravimetric analysis (TGA ligh adsorption capacity and se ong and flexible polymer brush oproaches developed in this th ological samples.	ticles via SI-ATRP. A high into the polymer brushes histidine-tagged proteins, size, morphology, organic g dynamic light scattering Fourier transform infrared (x), and gel permission electivity towards the target les that are able to provide esis have a great potential	
amount of boronic acid ligands and iminodiacetate (I through the high-efficiency click reaction for the enri- respectively. The polymer nanohybrids were character content, densities of polymer chains and the affinity li- (DLS), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), transmiss spectroscopy (FT-IR), elemental analysis, therm- chromatography (GPC). The nanocomposites showed h proteins due to the dense ligands immobilized on the lo- rapid protein transport to binding sites. The synthetic ap for the development of more efficient adsorbents for bio Another focus of this thesis is to investigate the possitiv via SI-ATRP in an aqueous solvent. Specifically, ATRP i (AMEL), which is a pH-responsive protein, followed aqueous solution via SI-ATRP, leading to a pH a bioconjugate was characterized in terms of particle behavior in response to pH and temperature. The b bioapplications such as drug delivery and biosensing.	DA) ligands were introduced chment of glycoproteins and ized to determine the particle gands via techniques includin on electron microscopy (TEM) ogravimetric analysis (TGA iigh adsorption capacity and se ong and flexible polymer brush oproaches developed in this th ological samples. bility of growing polymer chain nitiators were first selectively in by growing thermo-responsi nd temperature dually respo size, molecular weight of po pioconjugates may serve as	ticles via SI-ATRP. A high into the polymer brushes histidine-tagged proteins, size, morphology, organic g dynamic light scattering , Fourier transform infrared v), and gel permission electivity towards the target les that are able to provide esis have a great potential is from biological interface mmobilized on amelogenin ve pNIPAm chains in an onsive bioconjugate. The lymer, and self-assembly a promising platform for	
amount of boronic acid ligands and iminodiacetate (I through the high-efficiency click reaction for the enri- respectively. The polymer nanohybrids were character content, densities of polymer chains and the affinity li- (DLS), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), transmissi spectroscopy (FT-IR), elemental analysis, therm- chromatography (GPC). The nanocomposites showed h proteins due to the dense ligands immobilized on the lo rapid protein transport to binding sites. The synthetic ap for the development of more efficient adsorbents for bio Another focus of this thesis is to investigate the possite via SI-ATRP in an aqueous solvent. Specifically, ATRP i (AMEL), which is a pH-responsive protein, followed aqueous solution via SI-ATRP, leading to a pH a bioconjugate was characterized in terms of particle behavior in response to pH and temperature. The the bioapplications such as drug delivery and biosensing. Key words: Nanohybrid, Polymer brush, ATRP, Biose	DA) ligands were introduced chment of glycoproteins and ized to determine the particle gands via techniques includin on electron microscopy (TEM) ogravimetric analysis (TGA iigh adsorption capacity and se ong and flexible polymer brush oproaches developed in this th ological samples. bility of growing polymer chain nitiators were first selectively in by growing thermo-responsi nd temperature dually respo size, molecular weight of po pioconjugates may serve as	ticles via SI-ATRP. A high into the polymer brushes histidine-tagged proteins, size, morphology, organic g dynamic light scattering , Fourier transform infrared a), and gel permission electivity towards the target tes that are able to provide esis have a great potential as from biological interface mmobilized on amelogenin ve pNIPAm chains in an onsive bioconjugate. The alymer, and self-assembly a promising platform for	
amount of boronic acid ligands and iminodiacetate (I through the high-efficiency click reaction for the enri- respectively. The polymer nanohybrids were character content, densities of polymer chains and the affinity li- (DLS), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), transmissi spectroscopy (FT-IR), elemental analysis, therm- chromatography (GPC). The nanocomposites showed h proteins due to the dense ligands immobilized on the lo rapid protein transport to binding sites. The synthetic ap for the development of more efficient adsorbents for bic Another focus of this thesis is to investigate the possit via SI-ATRP in an aqueous solvent. Specifically, ATRP i (AMEL), which is a pH-responsive protein, followed aqueous solution via SI-ATRP, leading to a pH a bioconjugate was characterized in terms of particle behavior in response to pH and temperature. The b bioapplications such as drug delivery and biosensing. Key words: Nanohybrid, Polymer brush, ATRP, Biose Classification system and/or index terms (if any)	DA) ligands were introduced chment of glycoproteins and ized to determine the particle gands via techniques includin on electron microscopy (TEM) ogravimetric analysis (TGA ligh adsorption capacity and se ong and flexible polymer brush oproaches developed in this th ological samples. oility of growing polymer chain nitiators were first selectively in by growing thermo-responsi nd temperature dually respo size, molecular weight of po poioconjugates may serve as paration, Bioconjugate	ticles via SI-ATRP. A high into the polymer brushes histidine-tagged proteins, size, morphology, organic g dynamic light scattering , Fourier transform infrared (N), and gel permission electivity towards the target les that are able to provide esis have a great potential as from biological interface mmobilized on amelogenin ve pNIPAm chains in an onsive bioconjugate. The lymer, and self-assembly a promising platform for	
amount of boronic acid ligands and iminodiacetate (I through the high-efficiency click reaction for the enri- respectively. The polymer nanohybrids were character content, densities of polymer chains and the affinity li- (DLS), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), transmissi spectroscopy (FT-IR), elemental analysis, therm chromatography (GPC). The nanocomposites showed h proteins due to the dense ligands immobilized on the lo rapid protein transport to binding sites. The synthetic ap for the development of more efficient adsorbents for bic Another focus of this thesis is to investigate the possit via SI-ATRP in an aqueous solvent. Specifically, ATRP i (AMEL), which is a pH-responsive protein, followed aqueous solution via SI-ATRP, leading to a pH a bioconjugate was characterized in terms of particle behavior in response to pH and temperature. The the bioapplications such as drug delivery and biosensing. Key words: Nanohybrid, Polymer brush, ATRP, Biose	DA) ligands were introduced chment of glycoproteins and ized to determine the particle gands via techniques includin on electron microscopy (TEM) ogravimetric analysis (TGA ligh adsorption capacity and se ung and flexible polymer brush oproaches developed in this th plogical samples. bility of growing polymer chain nitiators were first selectively in by growing thermo-responsi nd temperature dually respo size, molecular weight of po pioconjugates may serve as paration, Bioconjugate	ticles via SI-ATRP. A high into the polymer brushes histidine-tagged proteins, size, morphology, organic g dynamic light scattering , Fourier transform infrared v), and gel permission electivity towards the target les that are able to provide esis have a great potential is from biological interface mmobilized on amelogenin ve pNIPAm chains in an onsive bioconjugate. The dymer, and self-assembly a promising platform for Language: English	
amount of boronic acid ligands and iminodiacetate (I through the high-efficiency click reaction for the enri- respectively. The polymer nanohybrids were character content, densities of polymer chains and the affinity li- (DLS), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), transmissi spectroscopy (FT-IR), elemental analysis, therm chromatography (GPC). The nanocomposites showed h proteins due to the dense ligands immobilized on the lo rapid protein transport to binding sites. The synthetic ap for the development of more efficient adsorbents for bic Another focus of this thesis is to investigate the possit via SI-ATRP in an aqueous solvent. Specifically, ATRP i (AMEL), which is a pH-responsive protein, followed aqueous solution via SI-ATRP, leading to a pH a bioconjugate was characterized in terms of particle behavior in response to pH and temperature. The b bioapplications such as drug delivery and biosensing. Key words: Nanohybrid, Polymer brush, ATRP, Biose Classification system and/or index terms (if any) Supplementary bibliographical information	DA) ligands were introduced chment of glycoproteins and ized to determine the particle gands via techniques includin on electron microscopy (TEM) ogravimetric analysis (TGA ligh adsorption capacity and se ong and flexible polymer brush oproaches developed in this th ological samples. oility of growing polymer chain nitiators were first selectively in by growing thermo-responsi nd temperature dually respr size, molecular weight of po pioconjugates may serve as paration, Bioconjugate	ticles via SI-ATRP. A high into the polymer brushes histidine-tagged proteins, size, morphology, organic g dynamic light scattering Fourier transform infrared (s), and gel permission electivity towards the target les that are able to provide esis have a great potential as from biological interface mmobilized on amelogenin ve pNIPAm chains in an onsive bioconjugate. The lymer, and self-assembly a promising platform for Language: English ISBN 978-91-7422-596-9	
amount of boronic acid ligands and iminodiacetate (I through the high-efficiency click reaction for the enri- respectively. The polymer nanohybrids were character content, densities of polymer chains and the affinity li- (DLS), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), transmissi spectroscopy (FT-IR), elemental analysis, therm chromatography (GPC). The nanocomposites showed h proteins due to the dense ligands immobilized on the lo rapid protein transport to binding sites. The synthetic ap for the development of more efficient adsorbents for bic Another focus of this thesis is to investigate the possit via SI-ATRP in an aqueous solvent. Specifically, ATRP i (AMEL), which is a pH-responsive protein, followed aqueous solution via SI-ATRP, leading to a pH a bioconjugate was characterized in terms of particle behavior in response to pH and temperature. The the bioapplications such as drug delivery and biosensing. Key words: Nanohybrid, Polymer brush, ATRP, Biose Classification system and/or index terms (if any) Supplementary bibliographical information ISSN and key title Recipient's notes	DA) ligands were introduced chment of glycoproteins and ized to determine the particle gands via techniques includin on electron microscopy (TEM) ogravimetric analysis (TGA igh adsorption capacity and se ong and flexible polymer brush oproaches developed in this th ological samples. bility of growing polymer chain nitiators were first selectively in by growing thermo-responsi nd temperature dually respo size, molecular weight of po poioconjugates may serve as paration, Bioconjugate Number of pages 160	ticles via SI-ATRP. A high into the polymer brushes histidine-tagged proteins, size, morphology, organic g dynamic light scattering Fourier transform infrared N, and gel permission electivity towards the target les that are able to provide esis have a great potential as from biological interface mmobilized on amelogenin ve pNIPAm chains in an onsive bioconjugate. The dymer, and self-assembly a promising platform for Language: English ISBN 978-91-7422-596-9 Price	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sourcespermission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature Lingdong Jiang Date 2018-09-12

# Macromolecular Engineering by Surface-Initiated ATRP:

New Nanomaterials for Bioapplications

Lingdong Jiang



Division of Pure and Applied Biochemistry Department of Chemistry Lund University Cover design by Lingdong Jiang, background image from Wikimedia.

Copyright ©Lingdong Jiang

Division of Pure and Applied Biochemistry Department of Chemistry ISBN 978-91-7422-596-9 (printed) ISBN 978-91-7422-597-6 (digital)

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2018



Media-Tryck is an environmentally certified and ISO 14001 certified 3041 0903 Intertek MADE IN SWEDEN

To my family

# Contents

Popular summary	1
Abstract	4
Abbreviations	6
List of papers	7
My contribution to the papers	8
Chapter 1 Introduction	9
1.1 Polymer nanohybrid	9
1.2 Aim and scope of the thesis	10
Chapter 2 Polymer brushes	12
2.1 Methods to prepare polymer brushes	12
2.2 Atom transfer radical polymerization (ATRP)	13
2.2.1 Monomers	14
2.2.2 Initiators	15
2.2.3 Transition metals	15
2.2.4 Ligand	16
2.2.5 Kinetics and mechanism	17
2.3 Surface-initiated ATRP	18
2.4 ATRP in an aqueous system	19
2.5 Improved atom transfer radical polymerization	20
2.5.1 ICAR ATRP	21
2.5.2 ARGET ATRP	22
2.5.3 SARA ATRP	23
2.5.4 eATRP	23
2.5.5 Photoinduced ATRP	24
2.6 Architecture of polymer brushes	24
2.6.1 Random copolymer brushes	24
2.6.2 Block copolymer brushes	25
2.6.3 Complex polymer brushes	27
2.7 Functionalities of polymer brushes	28

Chapter 3. Polymer brushes for protein separation	
3.1 Glycoprotein separation	30
3.1.1 Hydrazide chemistry	
3.1.2 Lectin affinity interaction	
3.1.3 Boronate affinity interaction	
3.2 His-tagged protein separation	
3.2.1 His-tagged protein	35
3.2.2 IMAC adsorbents	
Chapter 4. Polymer-protein bioconjugate	39
4.1 "Grafting to" approach	39
4.2 "Grafting from proteins" via aqueous ATRP	40
5. Conclusions and future outlooks	
Acknowledgements	47
References	49

# Popular summary

Polymer nanohybrid materials have attracted ever-increasing attention in the fields of materials science, biomedical engineering and bioseparation due to its unique structural characteristics and distinct properties provided by the individual components.

Protein purification is of great importance in producing proteins for therapeutic or research purposes. The selective isolation of a target protein from a complex biological sample is a challenging task. Until now, various types of materials including molecularly imprinted polymers, core-shell magnetic beads, monolithic macroporous gels, and lectin/antibody-based molecular tools have been utilized for the enrichment of specific proteins. However, these protein adsorbents have some drawbacks such as low binding capacities, severe steric constraint due to rigid structures, high cost and poor stability. Researchers have been exploring new methods and materials that can enrich and recover proteins efficiently and facilely.

In recent years, polymer nanohybrids with well-defined structure have emerged as novel protein adsorbents due to their unique structures. The controlled radical polymerization (CRP) technique has provided a powerful avenue towards engineering the structure and properties of synthetic polymers. Atom transfer radical polymerization (ATRP) is among the most efficient and robust CRP processes for the synthesis of polymer nanohybrid, which allows precise control over the polymer in terms of chemical composition, topology and functionality.

Glycoproteins play a vital role in numerous biological activities including molecular recognition, protein folding, signal transduction, immune response, and so on. Lectins and antibodies as molecular tools for selective enrichment of glycoprotein are often associated with high cost and poor stability. Hydrazide chemistry, another separation method, is generally time-consuming and involves side reactions. As an alternative method for glycoprotein separation, boronate affinity materials have attracted great interests in recent years. Boronic acid can react with the cis-diol moiety of glycoproteins to form boronate ester bonds under basic conditions. The bound proteins can be eluted under acidic conditions via the hydrolysis of boronate ester bonds. This unique property makes boronic acid an ideal affinity ligand for glycoprotein separation. Using recombinant technology, various kinds of proteins can be expressed in large quantities, and a wide range of affinity tags can be easily introduced into the proteins of interest. Immobilized metal ion affinity chromatography (IMAC) is an effective approach for selective capture of recombinant proteins containing engineered affinity tags. Due to its low immunogenicity, small size, and general applicability, histidine tag (His-tag) has been the most widely used affinity tag that can reversibly coordinate with transition metal ions via chelating agents such as iminodiacetate (IDA) and nitrilotriacetate (NTA), allowing the bound proteins to be recovered. Nowadays, many kinds of IMAC adsorbents are available in the market for His-tagged protein separation. Most of these are magnetic beads that have limited binding capacity.

In this thesis, polymer nanohybrids with well-defined structure were prepared via the ATRP technique, which could be converted into different affinity adsorbents via further modification. Specifically, starting from the initiator-functionalized silica nanoparticles, poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) (pNIPAm) and poly(glycidyl methacrylate) (pGMA) brushes were grown from silica surfaces. After opening the epoxide ring on PGMA brushes, clickable boronic acid ligands or clickable IDA-Cu ligands were introduced into the polymer brushes via the click reaction. The resulted nanohybrids with boronate affinity and metal affinity were applied for glycoprotein and His-tagged protein separation, respectively. The experimental results demonstrated that the novel polymer nanohybrids could efficiently and specifically isolate and enrich target proteins from complex samples. For the purpose of protein separation, the polymer nanohybrids are superior to other types of adsorbents. The long and flexible polymer brushes could provide local proximity and multiple affinity ligands for protein binding, facilitating stable immobilization. Moreover, the swollen polymer brushes could decrease steric hindrance, providing sufficient accessible space for protein binding, thus leading to higher binding capacities.

In addition to growing polymer brushes from inorganic substrate for protein separation, this thesis also tried to explore the possibility of growing polymer chains from protein molecules. From an engineering standpoint, conjugation of a synthetic polymer to a protein is exciting because it allows the merging of the properties of both synthetic polymers and naturally occurring proteins, which could lead to the emergence of a new family of biohybrid materials. Many kinds of proteins including bovine serum albumin, ovalbumin, chymotrypsin, streptavidin, and green fluorescent protein have been reported to prepare proteinpolymer bioconjugate for applications ranging from drug delivery, biosensing and biocatalysis. In this thesis, amelogenin, the major protein component of enamel matrix, was utilized to prepare bioconjugate via ATRP in an aqueous solution. The experimental results indicated that the bioconjugate could selfassemble into uniform and stable nanoparticles with an extremely narrow size distribution, and the nanoassembly process could be regulated by simply varying the pH and temperature. The bioconjugates may serve as a promising platform for advanced drug delivery and improved bioseparation purposes.

# Abstract

The objective of this thesis is to investigate the synthesis of well-defined polymer nanohybrid materials bearing desirable functionality via surface-initiated atom transfer radical polymerization (SI-ATRP) for potential bioapplications.

SI-ATRP is an excellent controlled radical polymerization (CRP) method for the synthesis of polymer nanohybrid by growing polymer brushes (chains) from an interface, which allows precise control over polymer composition, topology, and functionality. Polymer brushes have proven to be attractive platforms for applications spanning drug delivery, tissue engineering, biosensors as well as bioseparation.

Copper(I)-catalyzed alkyne-azide cycloaddition (CuAAC) click reaction has been widely applied for the design, fabrication and post-polymerization modification of polymer nanohybrid due to some important features: high reaction yields, benign reaction conditions, and tolerance to diverse functional groups.

One aim of this thesis is to grow polymer brushes from inorganic nanoparticles via SI-ATRP in organic solvent followed by post-polymerization functionalization of the polymer brushes via click reaction for different applications. Specifically, thermo-responsive polymer brushes composed of poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) (pNIPAm) and poly(glycidyl methacrylate) (pGMA) were grafted from silica nanoparticles via SI-ATRP. A high amount of boronic acid ligands and iminodiacetate (IDA) ligands were introduced into the polymer brushes through the high-efficiency click reaction for the enrichment of glycoproteins and histidine-tagged proteins, respectively. The polymer nanohybrids were characterized to determine the particle size, morphology, organic content, densities of polymer chains and the affinity ligands via techniques including dynamic light scattering (DLS), scanning electron microscopy (SEM), transmission electron microscopy (TEM), Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR), elemental analysis, thermogravimetric analysis (TGA), and gel permission chromatography (GPC). The nanocomposites showed high adsorption capacity and selectivity towards the target proteins due to the dense ligands immobilized on the long and flexible polymer brushes that are able to provide rapid protein transport to binding sites. The synthetic approaches

developed in this thesis have a great potential for the development of more efficient adsorbents for biological samples.

Another focus of this thesis is to investigate the possibility of growing polymer chains from biological interface via SI-ATRP in an aqueous solvent. Specifically, ATRP initiators were first selectively immobilized on amelogenin (AMEL), which is a pH-responsive protein, followed by growing thermo-responsive pNIPAm chains in an aqueous solution via SI-ATRP, leading to a pH and temperature dually responsive bioconjugate. The bioconjugate was characterized in terms of particle size, molecular weight of polymer, and self-assembly behavior in response to pH and temperature. The bioconjugates may serve as a promising platform for bioapplications such as drug delivery and biosensing.

# Abbreviations

AIBN	Azobisisobutyronitrile
AMEL	Amelogenin
APTES	(3-aminopropyl)-triethoxysilane
ARS	Alizarin Red S
BIBB	2-bromoisobutyrylbromide
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CRP	Controlled/living radical polymerization
DLS	Dynamic light scattering
DMF	N,N-dimethylformamide
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
GMA	Glycidyl methacrylate
GPC	Gel permeation chromatography
His-LDH	Histidine-tagged lactate dehydrogenase
His-Hb	Histidine-tagged hemoglobin
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
Me <sub>6</sub> TREN	tris(2-dimethylaminoethyl)amine
NIPAm	N-isopropylacrylamide
OVA	Ovalbumin
PMDETA	N, N, N', N", N"-pentamethyldiethylenetriamine
RAFT	Reversible addition-fragmentation chain transfer polymerization
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate
SEM	Scanning electron microscopy
TEA	Triethylamine
TEM	Transmission electron microscopy
TEOS	Tetraethylorthosilicate
TGA	Thermal gravimetric analysis

# List of papers

Paper I. <u>Lingdong Jiang</u>, Héctor Bagán, Tripta Kamra, Tongchang Zhou and Lei Ye, *Nanohybrid Polymer Brushes on Silica for Bioseparation*. J. Mater. Chem. B, 2016, 4(19), 3247-3256.

Paper II. <u>Lingdong Jiang</u>, Maria E. Messing and Lei Ye. *Temperature and pH Dual-Responsive Core-Brush Nanocomposite for Enrichment of Glycoproteins*. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 2017, 9(10), 8985–8995.

Paper III. <u>Lingdong Jiang</u> and Lei Ye. *Temperature Responsive Polymer Brushes for Affinity Separation of Histidine-tagged Recombinant Proteins*. (Submitted to ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces)

Paper IV. <u>Lingdong Jiang</u>, Johan Bonde and Lei Ye. *Temperature and pH Controlled Self-assembly of a Protein-Polymer Biohybrid*. Macromol. Chem. Phys., 2018, 1700597.

Paper not included in this thesis

Paper I. Huiting Ma, <u>Lingdong Jiang</u>, Solmaz Hajizadeh, Haiyue Gong, Bin Lu and Lei Ye. *Nanoparticle Supported Polymer Brushes for Temperature Regulated Glycoprotein Separation.* J. Mater. Chem. B, 2018, 6, 3770-3781.

Paper II. Qianjin Li, <u>Lingdong Jiang</u>, Tripta Kamra and Lei Ye. *Synthesis of Fluorescent Molecularly Imprinted Nanoparticles for Turn-on Fluorescence Assay Using One-Pot Synthetic Method and a Preliminary Microfluidic Approach*. Polymer, 2018, 138, 352-358.

Paper III. Héctor Bagán, Kamra Tripta, <u>Lingdong Jiang</u> and Lei Ye. *Thermoresponsive Polymer Brushes on Organic Microspheres for Biomolecular Separation and Immobilization*. Macromol. Chem. Phys., 2017, 218, 1600432.

# My contribution to the papers

#### Paper I.

I performed the majority of the experiments and most of the experimental data analysis. I contributed to the writing of the manuscript.

#### Paper II.

I designed the experiments with the help of co-authors, performed most of the experiments and most of the experimental analysis, and drafted the manuscript.

#### Paper III.

I designed the experiments independently, performed most of the experiments and all the experimental data analysis, and drafted the manuscript.

#### Paper IV.

I designed the experiments with the help of co-authors, performed all the experiments except the GPC measurement and all the experimental data analysis, and drafted the manuscript.

# Chapter 1 Introduction

# 1.1 Polymer nanohybrid

Nanohybrid materials have gained considerable attention as a new paradigm of materials with the development of nanotechnology. Nanohybrid materials can be broadly defined as synthetic materials that incorporate inorganic, organic, or even bioactive components in a single material. The unlimited possible combinations of different components with distinct properties provide great opportunities to generate multifunctional platforms for highly sophisticated and promising bioapplications in fields as diverse as coatings and adhesives, electronics, biosensing, biomedicine, bioseparation, environment, and countless others [1-8].

Synthesis of organic/inorganic hybrid materials is among the most rapidly developing fields of materials science, and the development has largely been facilitated by controlled radical polymerization (CRP). Properties of this type of hybrid materials can synergistically combine the best of inorganic and organic constituents. Atom transfer radical polymerization (ATRP) is one of the most popular CRP methods and has been an indispensable approach for the controlled synthesis of polymer hybrid with desired composition, complex molecular architecture, and diverse functionalities.

Polymer brushes grown from surfaces can have excellent self-lubricating and tribological properties, which have very good antifouling and antimicrobial properties [9]. Additionally, surface properties such as biocompatibility, hydrophobicity/hydrophilicity, adhesion, adsorption, and corrosion resistance can also be tailored. Polymer brushes grown from nanoparticles can improve their dispersibility and colloidal stability, or enhance the mechanical properties while retaining other properties (magnetic, optical, luminescent, etc.).

In recent times, polymer brushes with active binding sites have proved to be appealing for protein immobilization due to the flexible structure and low steric constraint, which allow rapid protein transport to the binding sites. Polymer brushes functionalized solid particles can be applied as the stationary phase of chromatography columns for protein separation [10]. For example, polymer brushes with carboxylic acid groups and epoxide groups can bind proteins by reacting with amino groups via active ester chemistry and nucleophilic ringopening reactions, respectively. However, these immobilization methods lack selectivity. One solution to this problem is the functionalization of polymer brushes with affinity ligands that can specifically bind target proteins.

Copper(I)-catalyzed alkyne-azide cycloaddition (CuAAC) is well known as the click reaction, and has some important features: high reaction yields, benign reaction conditions and tolerance to diverse functional groups [11-12]. Due to the convenient and effective coupling of complementary functional groups, click reactions have been widely utilized for the design, fabrication, and modification of polymer brushes. In this thesis, taking advantage of ATRP and high-efficiency click reaction, polymer brushes with boronate affinity and metal affinity were prepared for the selective binding of target proteins.

Another very rapidly expanding area for polymeric materials prepared by ATRP includes various bioconjugates with biomolecules such as proteins, nucleic acids, and carbohydrates [13-14]. Synthetic polymers can conjugate with proteins to form protein-polymer bioconjugates, which enable to merge the attractive physical and chemical features of polymers with the biological activity of proteins. For example, the modification of protein with polyethylene glycol can improve the solubility, stability, and circulation lifetime of a protein and decrease its immune response. Many therapeutic proteins tend to denature and aggregate with extended storage time and exhibit poor pharmacokinetics when used without modifications. ATRP is compatible with aqueous media and allows to grow polymers directly from proteinaceous macroinitiators [15], offering many advantages including great chemical flexibility and simple purification process based on the distinct molecular weight differences between unreacted monomers and products.

# 1.2 Aim and scope of the thesis

Macromolecular engineering via controlled radical polymerizations (CRPs) offers dramatic opportunities to prepare novel functional materials for a wide range of applications. This thesis aims to prepare novel polymeric materials for bioapplications via surface-initiated atom transfer radical polymerization (SI-ATRP), focusing on the design, synthesis, characterization and application of well-defined inorganic/organic and biological/organic hybrid materials.

In Paper I, II and III, we developed a modular approach for the preparation of silica supported polymer brushes that were able to be converted into boronate affinity and metal affinity adsorbents by introducing affinity ligands into the polymer brushes via a high-efficiency click reaction.

In Paper IV, we investigated the possibility of growing thermo-responsive polymer chains from a pH-responsive protein (amelogein) via ATRP in an aqueous solution. TEM was utilized to characterize the morphology of the bioconjugate and DLS was utilized to investigate the self-assembly behavior of the bioconjugate under different conditions.

# Chapter 2 Polymer brushes

Polymer brushes are dense polymer chains that are packed close enough on substrate surfaces [16-17]. As shown in Figure 1, when the distance between the neighbouring grafting points is smaller than the radius of gyration, due to the steric confinement, polymer chains tend to stretch away and align themselves along the perpendicular direction of the tethered surfaces, leading to a "brush" conformation. In another situation, if the polymer chains are sparsely grafted such that the distance between the neighbouring grafting points is greater than the radius of gyration, polymer chains adopt a relaxed "mushroom" or "pancake" conformation [18].



Figure 1. Schematic illustration of the conformation of grafted polymer chains.

# 2.1 Methods to prepare polymer brushes

There are two main strategies to tether polymer chains to a substrate surface: the "grafting to" and "grafting from" approaches [19-20].

The "grafting to" approach involves the attachment of premade polymer chains to an appropriately functionalized substrate surface [21-24]. The advantage of this approach is that the prefabricated free polymer chains allow for a thorough characterization and the properties can be easily tailored. However, with this approach the achievable grafting density is limited due to the concentration gradient built up by the already-grafted polymer chains. It becomes difficult for the remaining chains to diffuse and reach the reactive sites on the surface.

The "grafting from" approach is a more promising method for the synthesis of

polymer brushes [25-26]. With this approach, small initiator molecules can be immobilized on the surface with a high density, as the addition of monomers to the growing chain ends is not strongly hindered by the already-grafted polymer chains. Therefore, compared with the "grafting to" approach, the "grafting from" approach offers clear benefits in terms of lower steric hindrance and higher conjugation efficiency.

# 2.2 Atom transfer radical polymerization (ATRP)

As a versatile controlled radical polymerization (CRP), atom transfer radical polymerization (ATRP) [27-28] was independently discovered by Matyjaszewski [29-30] and Sawamoto in 1995 [31]. ATRP allows the controlled synthesis of polymers with predetermined molecular weight, low polydispersity, and complex topology (e.g., rings, bottlebrushes, stars, and combs or networks). The composition of produced polymers can change statistically, periodically, or gradiently. Various functionalities can be precisely incorporated into polymers to provide targeted properties.



Figure 2. Controlled macromolecular topology, composition, functionality and potential applications of polymer materials prepared by ATRP. Adapted with permission from [18].

An ATRP system is composed of monomers, initiators and catalysts that consist of a transition metal and a suitable ligand. The fact that most of the standard ATRP catalyst and initiators are commercially available also makes ATRP an attractive controlled polymerization technique. Having the capacity to stop and restart the polymerization is also advantageous for preparing complex architectures.

ATRP also presents disadvantages. For example, the reaction requires stringent inert conditions, and the purity of reagents is extremely important. However, the advantages far outweigh the disadvantages. The ability to precisely control the molecular weight and sequence of polymer with a narrow polydispersity is highly desirable.

#### 2.2.1 Monomers

ATRP is compatible with many vinyl monomers including (meth)acrylates, styrenes and (meth)acrylamides, which contain an electron withdrawing substituent adjacent to the vinyl group. Figure 3 provides some examples of monomers that can be polymerized via ATRP.



Figure 3. Examples of monomers that can be polymerized via ATRP. Adapted with permission from [32].

#### 2.2.2 Initiators

ATRP initiator is typically an alkyl halide (RX) [33]. Tertiary alkyl halides have been shown to be better initiators than secondary ones, which are better than primary ones. One simple rule to follow is that the R-group in the alkyl halide should be similar in structure to that of the monomer. For example, (1bromoethyl)benzene is usually used for polymerizing styrene [34], ethyl 2bromoisobutyrate, and ethyl 2-bromopropionate for meth(acrylates) [35-36] and 2-bromopropionitrile for acrylonitiles[37]. Figure 4 provides some examples of initiators for ATRP.



Figure 4. Examples of initiators for ATRP. Adapted with permission from [32].

## 2.2.3 Transition metals

The transition metals used in the ATRP reaction should be able to readily have access to two oxidation states separated by one electron and have a reasonable affinity towards a halogen while having a low affinity for other atoms such as hydrogen atoms and alkyl radicals. The initial work by Sawamoto et al. utilized a ruthenium (II)-based catalyst [31], whereas Matyjaszewski et al. utilized copper (I) as the superior metal for catalysts due to its versatility and low cost [29-30, 38]. Other less common metals such as iron [39], nickel [40], molybdenum [41], rhenium [42], and palladium [43] have also been used for polymerizing various monomers.

#### 2.2.4 Ligand

The function of ligands is to solubilize the metal in the reaction media and affect the redox chemistry of the final metal complex. Various ligands have been applied to form metal complexes with different transition metals. Copper is usually ligated with nitrogen-based ligands. As shown in Figure 5, bidentate 2,2'bipyridine (Bipy) and 4,4'-di-5-nonyl-2,2'-bipyridine (dNbpy) [44-46], tridentate pentamethyldiethylenetriamine (PMDETA) [47], tetradentate 1,1,4,7,10,10-Hexamethyltriethylenetetramine (HMTETA), tris(2-pyridylmethyl)amine (TPMA) ligands, and tris(2-(dimethylamino)ethyl)amine (Me<sub>6</sub>TREN) [48-50] have successfully been applied in copper-based ATRP. The ATRP catalytic activity of copper (I) complexes decrease in the order Me<sub>6</sub>TREN > TPMA> PMDETA > dNbpy >HMTETA > Bipy [51].



Figure 5. Examples of nitrogen-based ligands and their effect on value of K<sub>ATRP</sub> for the reaction between ethyl 2bromoisobutyrate and Cu(I) complexes in acetonitrile at 22 °C. Adapted with permission from [51].

#### 2.2.5 Kinetics and mechanism

ATRP relies on the dynamic equilibrium (characterized by  $K_{ATRP} = k_a/k_d$ ) between a large majority of dormant (halogen-capped) chains and a very low concentration of active free radicals (Figure 6) [52], which includes several processes. Initiation involves the generation of radicals and the addition of those radicals to a monomer unit, yielding the first propagating species. Propagation is the repeated addition of the polymeric radical species to the monomer molecules. Each propagation reaction results in a polymer chain that is one repeat unit longer and is also a radical. Termination of ATRP leads to the build-up of deactivator, which reduces the concentration of radicals until a steady state is reached. This "selfadjustment" process during the initial stages of the polymerization is called "persistent radical effect" [53].

In a steady state, a transition metal (Z) complex (the activator, e.g., Cu(I)X/L) abstracts a halogen atom (X) from an alkyl halide initiator (R-X) to generate a metal (Z+1) complex (the deactivator, e.g., Cu(I)X<sub>2</sub>/L) and an initiator radical (R<sup>•</sup>) that can subsequently react with a monomer to start a propagating chain. This chain can then be deactivated by the metal (Z+1) complex transferring the abstracted halogen back to the polymeric radical  $P_n^{\bullet}$  (n is the degree of polymerization, DP), forming a dormant chain ( $P_n$ -X) and reforming the initial metal (Z) species that can then re-initiate and so on.

$$P_{n}-X + Cu(I)X/L \xrightarrow{k_{a}} P_{n} + Cu(II)X_{2}/L$$

$$k_{d} \xrightarrow{k_{p}} k_{t} + Cu(II)X_{2}/L$$

$$P_{n+m}/P_{n}+P_{m} + Cu(II)X_{2}/L$$

Figure 6. Mechanism of copper-mediated ATRP where  $k_{a}$ ,  $k_{d}$ ,  $k_{p}$  and  $k_{t}$  are the rate constants for activation, deactivation, propagation and termination respectively.

The degree of polymerization of the produced polymer is determined by the initial concentration ratio of monomer to initiator,  $[M]_0/[RX]_0$ , and the monomer conversion. The molecular weight distribution (( $D = M_w/M_n$ , where,  $M_w$  is the weight-average MW and  $M_n$  is the number-average MW) of formed polymers is calculated according to equation 1 [54].

$$\mathbf{\tilde{D}} = 1 + \frac{1}{\mathrm{DP}} + \left(\frac{k_{\mathrm{p}}[\mathrm{RX}]_{0}}{k_{\mathrm{d}}[\mathrm{Cu}(\mathrm{II})]_{0}}\right) \left(\frac{2}{\mathrm{Y}} - 1\right) + \left(\frac{k_{\mathrm{t}}k_{\mathrm{a}}[\mathrm{C}]_{0}}{4k_{\mathrm{p}}k_{\mathrm{d}}[\mathrm{Cu}(\mathrm{II})]_{0}}\right) \mathrm{Y}, \quad [\mathrm{Cu}(\mathrm{II})]_{0} \neq 0 \qquad (1)$$

Where, DP is the degree of polymerization;  $k_p$ ,  $k_a$  and  $k_d$  are the rate constants of propagation, activation, and deactivation, respectively;  $[RX]_0$  is the initiator concentration;  $[Cu(II)]_0$  is the deactivator concentration;  $[C]_0$  is the catalyst concentration; Y is the monomer conversion.

Control in ATRP depends not only on  $K_{ATRP}$  but also on the rate constants of activation and deactivation. Activation and deactivation occur throughout the polymerization process. They determine how many monomer units are added during each intermittent activation step and directly affect the dispersity of the obtained polymers. In order to achieve good control in the ATRP process, (1) initiation of chains must be fast and almost at the same time; (2) termination events must be minimal; (3) exchange between dormant and active species must be fast relative to propagation; (4) the equilibrium between active and dormant species must be greatly shifted towards the side of the dormant species (i.e.  $k_a \ll k_d$ ) in order to ensure that only a small number of monomer units are added to the propagating radicals during each period of activity.

The rate law for ATRP can be described by equation (2) when neglecting the termination step and using a fast equilibrium approximation:

$$R_{P} = k_{P}[P_{n} \cdot][M] = k_{P} \frac{k_{a}}{k_{d}} [P_{n}X][M] \frac{[Cu(I)]}{[Cu(II)]}$$
(2)

Where,  $R_p$  is the rate of polymerization;  $k_p$  is the rate constant of propagation; [P<sub>n</sub>'] is the concentration of active growing chain radicals; [M] is the monomer concentration;  $k_a$  and  $k_d$  are the rate constants of activation and deactivation, respectively; [P<sub>n</sub>X] is the concentration of dormant species; [Cu(I)] and [Cu(II)] are the concentrations of Cu(I) and Cu(II) catalyst, respectively.

Each monomer has its own unique propagation rate constant and atom transfer equilibrium constant for its active and dormant species. It can be known from equation (2) that the rate of ATRP in solution depends on the components in the ATRP system. It is proportional to the [M], [P<sub>n</sub>X], and [Cu(I)] and inversely proportional to [Cu(II)].

## 2.3 Surface-initiated ATRP

Surface-initiated ATRP has been exploited for the controlled synthesis of polymer brushes from various types of substrates such as silica, iron oxide, gold, and quantum dots [55-58]. It is conducted in the same way as solution ATRP except that the ATRP initiators are immobilized on surfaces that can be concave, convex, or flat. The initiator functionalized substrate is immersed in a solution of

monomer, catalyst, and ligand to initiate polymer growth from the surface.

As the concentration of the surface-bound initiator is very low, which has some effect on surface-initiated ATRP. In solution ATRP, the concentration of the initiator is relatively high, and the termination in the early stage can produce enough deactivators to ensure that the growing chain radicals are efficiently deactivated to the dormant state, giving a controlled polymerization. For surface-initiated ATRP, the concentration of the surface-bound initiator is too low for this mechanism to operate efficiently.

Two main strategies have been developed to solve this problem. One strategy is the addition of free initiators to the ATRP solution [59], which facilitates the formation of deactivators through dormant chain activation and termination reactions in solution. This makes the deactivation of chain radicals on the surface more efficient and leads to better-controlled polymer brush. The free polymer generated in the solution can be characterized by gel permeation chromatography (GPC), giving an indirect measurement of the molecular weight and polydispersity of polymer grafted on the surface. However, this strategy has a disadvantage: the achievable thickness of the polymer on surface is limited, as most of the monomers are consumed by the polymerization initiated in solution.

The other strategy is the addition of deactivator salts to the ATRP solution at the beginning of the reaction. Matyjaszewski et al. first reported the use of deactivator salts (CuBr<sub>2</sub>) in SI-ATRP to grow polystyrene brushes from initiator functionalized silicon wafer [60]. These added deactivator salts provide a very efficient deactivation of the growing chain radicals on the surface, giving a good control over the polymerization process.

# 2.4 ATRP in an aqueous system

ATRP has been successfully carried out in a broad range of solvents, including common organic solvents, supercritical  $CO_2$  [61], ionic liquids [62], poly (ethylene glycol) [63], and water [64]. The solvents can interact with the catalytically activator and deactivator, which can have dramatic consequences on the polymerization rate (owing to the effects on the value of  $K_{ATRP}$ ) and the polymerization control.

Water is the ideal medium for biologically-oriented applications. The need for sustainable and environmentally friendly chemical processes is the driving force behind the development of ATRP in an aqueous media. Jones et al. successfully initiated the polymerization of methyl methacrylate, glycidyl methacrylate, and hydroxyethyl methacrylate from gold surfaces in a water/methanol solvent mixture with CuBr/Bipy as the catalyst system at room temperature [65].

There are some challenges in conducting ATRP in an aqueous media (Figure 7). One challenge in aqueous systems is the high ATRP equilibrium constant. The polymerization rates increase significantly due to the high dielectric constant of water, which gives high radical concentrations and many "dead" chains, thus leading to a poor control over molecular weight and molecular weight distributions [66]. Additionally, there is partial dissociation of Cu(II)X<sub>2</sub>/L deactivator to a free halide anion and [Cu(II)X/L]<sup>+</sup> species, which is not able to transfer a halide to a propagating polymer chain [67]. Moreover, certain ligands cause the Cu(I) species to be disproportionated [68]. Furthermore, the carbon–halogen bond can hydrolyze, leading to the loss of chain-end functionality [69].

All of these processes have an effect on the ATRP equilibrium, often resulting in a fast polymerization rate, altered activator and deactivator concentrations, and "dead" chains.



Figure 7. Mechanism of ATRP with potential side reaction and equilibria in aqueous media.

# 2.5 Improved atom transfer radical polymerization

Conventional ATRP is carried out using a relatively large amount of transition metal catalysts, typically in the range of 0.1-1 mol % versus monomer, in order to compensate for the unavoidable radical termination via biradical coupling/disproportionation [70]. High concentration of catalysts can be disadvantages for electronic and biologically orientated applications, and limit the widespread use of this technique in industrial scale due to the added cost of purification, potential toxicity, and discoloration of products.

In recent times, many approaches have been developed to reduce the amount of catalysts to a few parts per million (ppm), which employ external chemical or physical stimuli to regenerate the active species (Figure 8). These improved

approaches include initiators for continuous activator regeneration (ICAR) ATRP, activators regenerated by electron transfer (ARGET) ATRP, supplemental activators and reducing agents (SARA) ATRP, electrochemical ATRP (eATRP), and photoinduced ATRP. The dramatically reduced level of catalyst used in these approaches could significantly simplify postpolymerization purification of the final products.



Figure 8. Approaches of activator regenerated used in ATRP.

## 2.5.1 ICAR ATRP

Initiators for continuous activator regeneration (ICAR) ATRP uses a small amount of conventional radical initiator (e.g., AIBN) to regenerate activators. Compared to conventional ATRP, the continuous regeneration of activator from deactivator facilitated by the radical initiator allows for much lower catalysts to be used [49].

Lamson et al. prepared polyacrylonitrile (PAN) via ICAR ATRP [71]. The authors investigated the effect of a few parameters on the polymerization process including ligand and initiator type, the amount of catalyst and the targeted degree of polymerization. It was reported that 50 ppm of CuBr<sub>2</sub>/TPMA as the catalyst and 2-bromopropionitrile (BPN) as the initiator resulted in PAN with the narrowest molecular weight distribution ( $M_w/M_n = 1.11-1.21$ ). Even lowering the catalyst to 10 ppm, excellent control ( $M_w/M_n < 1.30$ ) was maintained with 56% conversion in 10 h.

With this approach, Konkolewicz et al. successfully prepared polymers of oligo(ethylene oxide) methyl ether acrylate in aqueous media by using 20-100 ppm of CuBr/TPMA catalyst in the presence of excess bromide anions [72]. The authors found that the key to controlling the polymerization was the addition of

a bromide salt. The bromide ion was able to promote the formation of the deactivators, leading to the low dispersity of the products. Therefore, ICAR ATRP is promising for controlled polymerization in aqueous media. However, the addition of free-radical initiator limits its applicability to the synthesis of high-order macromolecular architectures. Scaling-up ICAR ATRP may be challenging due to the large amounts of free radical initiator needed, which may quickly decompose and lead to fast and exothermic polymerization if the temperature is not controlled precisely.

## 2.5.2 ARGET ATRP

Activators regenerated by electron transfer (ARGET) ATRP was first developed by Matyjaszewski's group [73-74]. This provided a continuous controlled polymerization with a low amount of copper catalyst (typically 10-250 ppm versus monomer). The Cu(I) complexes were constantly regenerated in situ from oxidatively stable Cu(II) species by the action of reducing agents such as tin(II) 2-ethylhexanoate (Sn-(EH)<sub>2</sub>) [75] and ascorbic acid [76]. To select the proper reducing agent, its reactivity toward all reaction components need to be considered. Reducing agents that yield relatively strong acids upon oxidation may protonate the ligand, leading to catalyst "poisoning" and loss of control.

In ARGET ATRP, the reaction is allowed to start with the stable Cu(II) species owing to the presence of reducing agents. This avoids the usage of Cu(I) species in the laboratory and can reduce the weighing errors, as Cu(I) salts can be oxidized to Cu(II) during its storage.

In an ARGET system, although much lower amount of catalysts are used compared to conventional ATRP, this does not lead to a greatly reduced polymerization rate. As shown in equation 2, the polymerization rate does not depend upon the absolute value of [Cu(I)] but upon the ratio of [Cu(I)] to [Cu(II)].

In order to compensate for the competitive complexation of the low amount of catalysts with the monomer, strong and excess ligands (usually 3 to 10 times molar excess) are required in an ARGET system. Matyjaszewski's group often used tetradentate ligands such as Me<sub>6</sub>TREN and TPMA in their ARGET ATRP systems [73-74].

As to the amount of reducing agent, the optimum quantity depends on the reactivity of the reducing agent and its solubility in the system. Excessive reducing agent would result in a fast and uncontrolled polymerization, while too little would lead to a slow polymerization and low conversions. In systems reported by Matyjaszewski's group, a fair control was achieved when the ratio of reducing agent to copper was chosen to be 10:1 [77-78].

## 2.5.3 SARA ATRP

Supplemental activator and reducing agent (SARA) ATRP utilizes zero-valent metal to reduce the deactivator to the activator [79-80]. Most reports of SARA ATRP utilized Cu(0) in the form of copper powder or copper wire as the SARA agent, which simplified the reaction setup, and allowed easy handling of the reaction process. In these systems, Cu(I) was continuously generated through the reduction of the oxidatively stable Cu(II) by Cu(0).

Inorganic sulfites such as sodium dithionite (Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>), sodium metabisulfite (Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>), and sodium bisulfite (NaHSO<sub>3</sub>) can also be utilized as SARA agents. Polymerization of methyl acrylate in DMSO at ambient temperature was demonstrated using various sulfites in combination with a CuBr<sub>2</sub>/Me<sub>6</sub>TREN catalyst [81]. Aqueous SARA ATRP was carried out for the preparation of poly[oligo(ethylene oxide) methyl ether acrylate] with less than 30 ppm of the copper catalyst using TMPA instead of Me<sub>6</sub>TREN ligand in the presence of an excess of halide salts (e.g., NaCl) [82]. Inorganic sulfites (e.g., Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub>) were continuously fed into the reaction mixture. The mechanistic studies proved that these salts can activate alkyl halides directly and regenerate the activator complex. The polymerization could be directly regulated by starting or stopping the continuous feeding of the SARA agent.

## 2.5.4 eATRP

Electrochemical ATRP (eATRP) reversibly generates Cu(I) species from Cu(II) through the application of an electric field [83]. In eATRP, activator regeneration is accomplished by the electrons supplied by the cathode. Varying the applied potential can effectively control the rate of polymerization.

Matyjaszewski et al. utilized this technique in the polymerization of oligo(ethylene glycol)methyl ether methacrylate in aqueous media [84]. Reactions were conducted with a Cu/TPMA catalyst in water with various electrolytes. As with the polymerization of methyl acrylate reported in organic media, increasing the applied potential was found to increase the rate of the polymerization; however, in aqueous media, it was found that a high rate had negative consequences on the degree of control over the polymerization. The low level of control at higher applied potential is attributed to increase bimolecular termination reactions at higher radical concentrations.

Additionally, aqueous eATRP has been used to control the polymerization of acrylamides, which is significant because of the inability of many other ATRP techniques to effectively control the polymerization of this class of monomer [85].

One disadvantage of this procedure is the use of platinum electrodes, which is

currently an obstacle to larger scale synthesis due to its cost. In 2016, Isse and coworkers demonstrated that eATRP could also be conducted with non-noble metals such as NiCr and stainless steel [86].

## 2.5.5 Photoinduced ATRP

Photoinduced ATRP has attracted considerable attention due to its wide availability, environmental benignity, and the possibility of controlling the reaction by simply switching the light on and off [87]. Copper-mediated photo-ATRP relies on a free amine ligand in solution that is able to reduce Cu(II) species to Cu(I) when in a photoexcited state.

Photoinduced ATRP in aqueous media was first reported in 2015 and was promoted by visible light and a  $Cu(II)X_2/TPMA$  catalyst [88]. The key to controlling the reaction was found to be the addition of an additional halide salt, which offsets the dissociation of Cu(II) species in aqueous media. Temporal control was demonstrated by cycling the reaction between illumination and darkness. Catalyst concentrations were reduced significantly while maintaining control over the polymerization by the addition of sodium bromide. Control over polymerization was demonstrated at copper concentrations as low as 26 ppm.

# 2.6 Architecture of polymer brushes

Polymer brush prepared via ATRP is terminated with a "living" halogen atom that can be used for further chain extension to construct complex architectures when the monomer supply is replenished. Various polymers with controlled composition, topology, and functionality can be achieved by the ATRP technique.

## 2.6.1 Random copolymer brushes

Random copolymer brushes are prepared by copolymerizing different monomers in one step reaction mainly to tune the properties (e.g., hydrophilicity and stimuliresponsiveness) of polymer brushes [89]. Random copolymers exhibit interesting and unique properties of each individual homopolymer. Due to differences in monomer reactivity, the ratio of the monomers incorporated into the copolymer brush is not necessarily identical to the monomer feed.

Klok et al. prepared RGD peptide-modified poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylateco-2-(methacryloyloxy)ethyl phosphate) brushes via SI-ATRP and postpolymerization modification with peptide [90]. The RGD peptides were able to mediate osteoblast adhesion, and the phosphate groups could mimic the function of natural bone extracellular matrix phosphorylated proteins and stabilize the bone mineral phase.

In Paper I, taking advantage of SI-ATRP, we successfully prepared a thermoresponsive random copolymer brush composed of pNIPAm and pGMA from initiator functionalized silica (Figure 9). pNIPAm is a thermo-responsive polymer that has a characteristic lower critical solution temperature (LCST) in water at around 32 °C [91]. Above LCST, the polymer undergoes a phase transition from hydrophilic state to hydrophobic state. pGMA is widely employed for the preparation of functional polymer materials due to its epoxy group that can undergo ring-opening reactions and allows the introduction of various functionalities into polymers [92].



Figure 9. Synthesis of P(NIPAm-co-GMA) random copolymer brushes from ATRP initiator functionalized silica nanoparticles via ATRP.

## 2.6.2 Block copolymer brushes

Block copolymer brushes consist of two or more homopolymer segments linked together. There are two important requirements for the synthesis of well-defined block copolymers: efficient initiation and preservation of chain end functionality, i.e., "livingness". SI-ATRP has been extensively applied to prepare block copolymer brushes via sequential block growth [93].

Bruening et al. managed to prepare triblock copolymer brushes composed of poly(methyl methacrylate)-*b*-poly(dimethylamino ethylmethacrylate)-*b*-poly(methyl methacrylate) and poly(methyl acrylate)-*b*-poly(methyl methacrylate)-*b*-poly(hydroxyethyl methacrylate) brushes at room temperature via the ATRP technique [94]. The chain extension confirmed the presence of survivor halogen atom at the end of the polymer brushes.

It was reported that the nature of the monomer would influence the success of preparing block copolymer. Genzer et al. reported that multiblock copolymer brushes of poly(methyl methacrylate) and poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) were able to be readily prepared, but the synthesis of poly(methyl methacrylate)b-poly(dimethylaminoethyl methacrylate) brushes turned out to be much more difficult [95]. In Paper II and III, we investigated the possibility of preparing block copolymer brushes composed of pNIPAm and pGMA segments with different sequences from ATRP initiator functionalized silica nanoparticles (Figure 10). We discovered that the on-particle synthesis of pNIPAm-b-pGMA brush was much more efficient than pGMA-b-pNIPAm brush from the initiator functionalized silica surfaces.



Figure 10. Synthesis of block copolymer brushes of pNIPAm and pGMA from ATRP initiator functionalized silica nanoparticle via consecutive SI-ATRP.

In Paper II, the morphologies and sizes of Si@initiator, Si@pNIPAm, and Si@pNIPAm-b-pGMA particles were characterized by SEM and TEM. As seen in Figure 11 (images a and b), the Si@initiator nanoparticles were spherical and had similar diameters (~200 nm). After grafting pNIPAm brushes from the Si@initiator surface, the Si@pNIPAm particles exhibited a core-shell structure where the silica core and the surrounding polymer shell (~5 nm) could be distinguished in the TEM image (Figure 11, image d). After further grafting the pGMA block, the thickness of the polymer shell in the obtained Si@pNIPAm-b-pGMA particles increased to ~30 nm (Figure 11, images e and f).



Figure 11. SEM images of (a) Si@initiator, (c) Si@pNIPAm, and (e) Si@pNIPAm-b-pGMA. TEM images of (b) Si@initiator, (d) Si@pNIPAm, and (f) Si@pNIPAm-b-pGMA.

## 2.6.3 Complex polymer brushes

ATRP can be exploited to prepare architecturally more complex brushes such as hyper-branched, comb-shaped, and star-shaped polymer brushes.

Hyper-branched polymer brushes can be prepared by polymerizing inimers, i.e., compounds that act as initiators and monomers [96]. Mori et al. described the preparation of hyper-branched polymer brushes through copolymerizing 2-(2-bromopropionyloxy) ethyl acrylate and 2-(2-bromoisobutyryloxy)ethyl methacrylate, respectively [97-98]. Incorporation of a degradable linker between the ATRP initiating site and vinyl group allows the production of degradable branched polymers [99].

Comb-shaped polymer brushes can be prepared by first growing a homopolymer brush, followed by functionalization of the side chains with initiating groups for the growing polymer arms [100-101]. Neoh et al. immobilized ATRP initiator (2-chloropropionic acid) to pGMA brushes, followed by the growing of pNIPAm brushes from the initiators, which were distributed along the pGMA brushes, leading to comb-shaped polymer brushes for accelerated temperature-dependent cell detachment [100].

Multifunctional initiators attached to a central core can yield star polymers with multiple linear polymers emanating from a central moiety. Liu et al. reported the fabrication of amphiphilic multiarm star block copolymer for cancer targeted drug delivery and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) contrast enhancement (Figure 12) [102]. In aqueous solution, the star block copolymer exists as structurally stable unimolecular micelles possessing a hyperbranched polyester (*Boltorn H40*) as the core, a hydrophobic poly( $\varepsilon$ -caprolactone) (PCL) inner layer, and a hydrophilic outer corona of poly(oligo(ethylene glycol) monomethyl ether methacrylate) (POEGMA). The outer corona was covalently labeled with Gd and folic acid (FA) for synergistic targeted drug delivery and MRI.



Figure 12. Schematic illustration of multifunctional unimolecular micelles based on amphiphilic multiarm star block copolymers, *H40*-PCL-*b*-P(OEGMA-*Gd-FA*). Adapted with permission from [102].

# 2.7 Functionalities of polymer brushes

The functional groups of polymer brushes can be placed at the  $\alpha$ -end (tail), in the backbone (repeat units), or at the  $\omega$ -end (growing head). Initiators with azide, alkene [103], or alkyne [104] functionality are attractive, as they allow access to more functional polymers with the development of the very efficient azide–alkyne, thiol-ene, and thiol-yne click chemistry. Macroinitiators containing degradable functional groups [105] can incorporate functionality in the center of the chain. Initiators with N-hydroxysuccinimide and disulfide groups can react with exposed amino and thiol groups on proteins, respectively [106-107]. A biotin-containing ATRP initiator can be used to prepare a polymer that can selectively interact with avidin [108].

A wide range of functional monomers can be polymerized yielding polymers with pendant functional groups. For example, monomers with epoxide groups are extensively employed for preparing functional polymers [109].

Polymers prepared by ATRP are actually macromolecular alkyl halides, and the halogen atom at the  $\omega$ -end can be further transformed to various functionalities by standard organic chemistry procedures. For example, the nucleophilic substitution of halides with sodium azide is very efficient, yielding azido end-functionalized polymers that can be further modified via click reaction with alkynes [110].

# Chapter 3. Polymer brushes for protein separation

Bioseparation is the process of separating biomacromolecules from biological samples based on molecular size, electrostatic attraction, or affinity interaction.

Polymer brushes have proved to be very attractive for protein binding due to its soft and flexible structure that can provide rapid protein transport to binding sites. The three dimensional structure with significant internal volumes facilitates protein binding.

Polymer brushes with carboxylic acid groups such as poly(acrylic acid) (PAA) and poly(carboxybetaine methacrylate) (PCBMA) can be used to bind proteins via active ester chemistry. These carboxylic acid brushes can be activated with N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS) using a carbodiimide reagent to mediate the reaction between carboxylic acid groups and amino groups [111-112]. With this approach, Cullen et al. successfully immobilized RNase A onto PAA brush. The bound enzyme was found to show a high enzyme activity [113]. Zhang et al. managed to immobilize antihuman chorionic gonadotropin (anti-hCG) antibody onto PCBMA brushes [114]. Surface plasmon resonance (SPR) measurements demonstrated that the antibody-modified polymer brush was able to specifically bind hCG while resisting the nonspecific adsorption of other proteins.

A drawback of immobilizing proteins via active ester chemistry is the susceptibility of the hydrolysis of the active esters. Upon exposure to an aqueous solution, NHS ester hydrolysis competes with protein immobilization, thus limiting the binding capacities [115].

Polymer brushes with epoxide groups are attractive candidates for protein binding, as they can react irreversibly with various nucleophilic groups in proteins such as amino and hydroxyl groups. However, due to its hydrophobicity nature, pGMA brush is not suitable for the separation of biological samples. This problem can be resolved by copolymerizing GMA with appropriate hydrophilic comonomers. For example, Huang et al. successfully prepared a water-dispersible magnetic microsphere by copolymerizing GMA and 2,3-dihydroxypropyl methacrylate via SI-ATRP for the immobilization of penicillin G acylase and BSA [116-117].

# 3.1 Glycoprotein separation

Glycoproteins are proteins containing carbohydrates (Figure 13) that are attached to the proteins in a post-translational glycosylation process. Glycosylation of a protein is one of the most important and ubiquitous processes existing in various biological activities including molecular recognition, protein folding, cell division and differentiation, signal transduction, and immune response [118]. It has been known that altered and aberrant glycosylated proteins are correlated with the occurrence of many types of cancer [119].



Figure 13. The principal sugars found in human glycoproteins.

There are two major types of glycosylation: N-linked glycosylation, which involves the attachment of glycans to asparagine residues and O-linked glycosylation, which involves the attachment of glycans to serine or threonine residues (Figure 14). Systematic investigation of glycoproteins can facilitate the discovery of new diagnostic biomarkers and provide important information for therapeutic treatment [120]. However, due to the relative low abundance of glycoproteins in complex biological samples, it is still a challenging task to enrich glycoproteins in complex samples.



Figure 14. Illustration of N-linked and O-linked glycoprotein.

Currently, the techniques utilized for glycoprotein separation includes hydrazide chemistry, lectin affinity, and boronate affinity-based enrichment.

## 3.1.1 Hydrazide chemistry

Hydrazide chemistry based enrichment involves the reaction between hydrazide functionalized materials and aldehyde groups that are converted from secondary hydroxyl groups of glycans upon peroxidation (Figure 15) [121-122].



Figure 15. Isolation of glycoproteins on hydrazide-modified beads.

To release the bound glycoproteins from the adsorbents, another chemical reaction or additional enzyme is needed because the hydrazone bond is nearly irreversible. PNGase F is the commonly used enzyme in an elution step. Chen et al. combined multienzyme digestion and hydrazide chemistry for the human liver N-glycoproteome analysis with an identification of 939 N-glycosylation sites and 523 N-glycoproteins [122].

Zou et al. developed a hydroxylamine assisted PNGase F deglycosylation strategy to release glycopeptides efficiently [123]. Hydroxylamine was used to release the former oxidized intact N-glycopeptides through transamination, and then PNGase F deglycosylation was performed in the free solution, which could avoid the inefficiency of the enzymatic reaction in heterogeneous conditions.

### 3.1.2 Lectin affinity interaction

Lectins are a unique class of proteins found in plants, bacteria, fungi, and animals that exhibit affinity for carbohydrates. Lectin affinity separation is based on the binding ability of lectins towards oligosaccharide structures on glycoproteins. Lectins offer relatively weak binding ( $K_d \sim 10^{-4}-10^{-7}$  M) compared to antibodies ( $K_d \sim 10^{-9}$  M), but because of their carbohydrate specificities, they are eminently suited for glycoprotein separation. Different lectins display different binding specificities. For example, Concanavalin A (ConA) specifically binds to

mannose-containing glycans, Sambucus nigra (SNA) to sialic acid-containing glycans, and wheat germ agglutinin (WGA) to GlcNAc residues of a glycan structure.

Zhu et al. combined surface plasmon resonance imaging (SPRi) with the lectin microarray for rapid and reliable glycoprotein profiling (Figure 16) [124]. The effectiveness of this system was demonstrated by automatically monitoring the interactions between lectins and the lysates of several mouse stem cell. In total, 40 lectins were spotted on the sensor chip to characterize the stem cell markers associated with pluripotency and non-pluripotency.



Figure 16. Schematic representation of lectin array on surface plasmon resonance imaging (SPRi). Adapted with permission from [124].

Lectin affinity separation is highly selective and thus provides target proteins with a high purity while the biological activity and natural glycosylation pattern is conserved due to the mild separation conditions. The drawback of this technique is that lectins are associated with high cost and poor stability, which limit their widespread applications.

### 3.1.3 Boronate affinity interaction

In recent years, many types of boronate affinity materials including macroporous monoliths [125], molecularly imprinted polymers [126], and magnetic materials [127] have aroused enormous interest for the enrichment of glycoproteins.

Boronic acids can react with cis-diol-containing biomolecules in mildly basic solution by forming boronate ester bonds. The bound biomolecules can be eluted in acidic solution via the dissociation of boronate ester bonds (Figure 17).



Figure 17. Schematic of the interaction between boronic acids and cis-diol-containing compounds.

Liu et al. reported a boronate affinity-based surface imprinting approach for the efficient imprinting of glycoproteins [126]. A glycoprotein template was first anchored onto a boronic acid functionalized substrate, which was then deposited with a thickness-controllable imprinting coating generated by self-copolymerization of dopamine and m-aminophenylboronic acid (APBA). The approach has significant advantages, including high specificity, high imprinting efficiency, and widely applicable substrates. The author also reported a dendrimeric boronic acid-functionalized magnetic nanoparticle for the separation of glycoproteins [128]. Highly branched dendrimers allowed the introduction of a high density of boronic acid ligands.

In this thesis, by combining SI-ATRP and high-efficiency click reaction, we successfully introduced a high density of boronic acid ligands into polymer brushes material for selectively isolating glycoproteins (Figure 18).

In Paper I, we prepared random copolymer brushes by copolymerizing NIPAm and GMA monomers from initiator functionalized silica nanoparticles via the ATRP technique, followed by opening the epoxide ring of GMA with propargylamine to produce multiple alkyne groups, which were then utlized to conjugate with azide-functionalized boronic acid through the CuAAC click reaction.

In Paper II, we prepared block copolymer brushes by growing pNIPAm and pGMA segments sequentially from initiator functionalized silica nanoparticles via the ATRP technique, followed by opening the epoxide ring of GMA with NaN<sub>3</sub> and subsequent modification with alkyne-functionalized boronic acid via CuAAC click reaction to yield the desired nanohybrid.



Figure 18. Preparation of boronate affinity nanohybrid via the combination of SI-ATRP with CuAAC click reaction.

# 3.2 His-tagged protein separation

Since it was first reported in 1975, immobilized metal ion affinity chromatography (IMAC) has been extensively applied for protein separation [129]. Subsequent studies reveal that histidine amino acid could strongly coordinate with transition metal ions such as  $Cu^{2+}$ ,  $Ni^{2+}$ ,  $Zn^{2+}$  and  $Co^{2+}$  [130].

The development of recombinant protein technology allows a number of histidines to be incorporated into the N- or C-terminus of the protein of interests by genetic engineering. Therefore, the affinity of the protein for the metal ion will be remarkably increased. When a histidine (His)-tagged protein contacts with metal ions that are immobilized on supporting materials via the chelating ligands such as iminodiacetate (IDA) [131] and nitrilotriacetate (NTA) (Figure 19) [132], it will be immbolized and other proteins can, therefore, be removed by washing with an appropriate buffer. The bound His-tagged proteins can be eluted with an excess of competitor ligands such as imidazole. Moreover, the material can be easily regenerated by washing with a stronger chelator such as ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) and subsequently reloading with metal ions.



Figure 19. Model of the interaction between a His-tagged protein and the metal ion in IDA and NTA ligands.

## 3.2.1 His-tagged protein

A His-tag (also known as hexa histidine-tag, 6xHis-tag, His6-tag) is an amino acid motif in proteins that normally consists of six consecutive histidine residues incorporated into the N- or C-terminus of the protein by genetic engineering. The His-tag has been the most widely used affinity tag due to its low immunogenicity, small size and general applicability [133-134].

### 3.2.2 IMAC adsorbents

Nowadays, various IMAC adsorbents of His-tagged proteins are available in the market, which include MagneHis Ni-Particle (Promega), Ni-NTA magnetic agarose beads (QIAGEN), Dynabeads TALON (Dynal Biotech), and HIS-Select nickel magnetic beads (Sigma). These commercial adsorbents normally have a limited binding capacity (lower than 40 mg g<sup>-1</sup>) [135]. Thus, developing novel IMAC adsorbents with higher capacity is necessary.

Zhang et al. developed a molecularly imprinted polymer for the purification of His-tagged green fluorescent protein (GFP) (Figure 20). By surface imprinting of the His-tag, the authors obtained IMAC adsorbents with improved selectivity for the His-tagged GFP [136].



Figure 20. Outline of the preparation process of epitope imprinting enhanced IMAC (EI-IMAC) and the rebinding toward His-tagged protein. Adapted with permission from [136].

Mattiasson et al. prepared soft macroporous gels with a large surface area for the enrichment of His-tagged proteins [137]. However, the slow diffusion of proteins into the imprinting pocket or porous gels often necessitated a longer separation time that may harm sensitive proteins [138-139].

Tan et al. successfully designed and synthesized anionic conjugated polyelectrolytes with IDA pendant groups (PPEIDA), which were exploited to immobilize His-tagged proteins [140]. Both fluorescence anisotropy and fluorescence resonance energy transfer experiments demonstrated the prominent recognition of His-tagged proteins. Compared to the conventional Western blot analysis, the method using PPEIDA–Ni<sup>2+</sup> significantly reduced the operation time and cost.

In Paper II, taking advantage of the SI-ATRP and the high-efficiency click reaction, we have successfully prepared polymer brushes with boronate affinity for glycoprotein separation. Inspired by these research results, in Paper III, we further explored the feasibility of preparing polymer brushes with a metal affinity for the enrichment of His-tagged proteins using His-tagged hemoglobin (His-Hb) and His-tagged lactate dehydrogenase (His-LDH) as models. As shown in Figure 21, based on the intermediate nanohybrid platform, Si@pNIPAm-b-pGMA, alkyne-functionalized IDA ligands were introduced via high-efficiency CuAAC click reaction. The long and flexible polymer brushes enabled to provide local proximity and facilitate multiple IDA-Cu ligands to bind His-tagged proteins via multipoint attachment.



Figure 21. Preparation of IDA-Cu affinity core-brush nanohybrid by combining SI-ATRP with CuAAC click reaction.

The equilibrium binding isotherms (Figure 22) showed that the nanohybrid with IDA ligands could significantly bind a higher amount of His-Hb (184.4 mg g<sup>-1</sup>) and His-LDH (93.3 mg g<sup>-1</sup>) than BSA (19.2 mg g<sup>-1</sup>). The His-Hb variant used in this study is composed of a single polypeptide chain (MW of 62 kDa), where the His tag is located at the N-terminal of the elongated XTEN sequence linked to the fHbF protein. The easily accessible His-tag in this particular His-Hb may be the main factor to enhance the protein binding to the nanocomposite. The generally high binding capacity of the nanocomposite towards His-tagged proteins can also be attributed to the open 3D architecture of the IDA-Cu ligand-rich polymer brushes. The hydrated polymer brushes are expected to adopt an extended conformation in aqueous solution at room temperature, thereby facilitating the infiltration of His-tagged proteins to the binding sites.



Figure 22. Protein binding isotherm measured at pH 8.0 for His-Hb ( $\blacktriangle$ ), His-LDH ( $\bullet$ ) and BSA ( $\blacksquare$ ).

# Chapter 4. Polymer-protein bioconjugate

Protein–polymer bioconjugates have attracted considerable interests in many biological related fields. From an engineering standpoint, conjugation of a synthetic polymer to a protein is exciting because it allows the merging of the properties of both the synthetic polymer and the protein [141-142].

Protein-polymer bioconjugates can be prepared by "grafting to" and "grafting from" approaches (Figure 23).



Figure 23. General synthetic strategies to form polymer-protein conjugates.

# 4.1 "Grafting to" approach

The "grafting to" approach involves the synthesis of a polymer with a functionality capable of bonding to a natural product, followed by a coupling reaction. A few reliable reactions that can take place under mild reaction conditions have been extensively applied to prepare protein-polymer bioconjugate. The most commonly used chemistries include: N-

hydroxysuccinimidyl (NHS) activated ester chemistry (Figure 24a), 1-ethyl-3-(3dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide (EDC) mediated chemistry (Figure 24b), thiol–maleimide Michael addition (Figure 24c), and thiol-disulfide exchange reaction (Figure 24d).



Figure 24. Common bioconjugation techniques for the modification of reactive amino acid side chains. (a) NHSchemistry; (b) carbodiimide chemistry; (c) cysteine-Maleimide chemistry; (d) thiol-disulfide exchange chemistry.

As mentioned in section 2.1, the advantage of "grafting to" approach is that the polymer can be prepared and fully functionalized under harsh conditions before its conjugation with proteins. However, due to the steric hindrance between two large macromolecules, the "grafting to" approach often involves low coupling efficiency and low conjugation yields.

Besides chemical reactions, specific noncovalent interactions, for example, the affinity interaction between biotin and streptavidin, have also been employed to prepare bioconjugates.

## 4.2 "Grafting from proteins" via aqueous ATRP

ATRP is compatible with aqueous media, thus allowing the growth of polymer chains *in situ* from protein surfaces under benign conditions. The general process involves the modification of a protein with ATRP initiators, followed by ATRP

of selected monomers. Until now, various kinds of proteins including streptavidin, myoglobin, chymotrypsin, BSA, lysozyme, GFP, trypsin, and HRP have been utilized for the preparation of protein-polymer bioconjugate via the ATRP technique (Figure 25) [142]. This synthetic route offers clear benefits in terms of lower steric hindrance and higher conjugation efficiency. Moreover, the unreacted monomers can be easily removed from the product by dialysis.



Figure 25. Current protein–polymer conjugates created using ATRP technique. Adapted with permission from [142].

In order to produce homogeneous recombinant protein that contains polymer initiators at defined sites, Mehl et al. designed the amino acid 4-(2'-bromoisobutyramido)phenylalanine as an ATRP initiator and incorporated this initiator to GFP for polymerizing oligo(ethylene oxide) monomethyl ether methacrylate from the selected site in buffered solution(Figure 26) [143].



Figure 26. Genetic incorporation of ATRP initiator into proteins for growing polyer brushes. Adapted with permission from [143].

Alexander et al. demonstrated the successful synthesis of "smart" hybrid polymerprotein conjugates by aqueous ATRP from trypsin protein [144]. The structures of resultant hybrids were examined by aqueous phase atomic force microscopy and cryo transmission electron microscopy.

Liu et al. reported a simple and efficient method for the preparation of uniform HRP bioconjugates via ATRP in aqueous media (Figure 27) [145]. Their study demonstrated that the HRP conjugates essentially retained the catalytic behavior of its native counterpart, but exhibited significantly enhanced stability against high temperature and trypsin digestion. Moreover, the uniform size distribution was designable and tunable through adjusting the monomer loading and reaction time.



Figure 27. Preparation of conjugates by two-step in situ aqueous AGET ATRP. Adapted with permission from [145].

In Paper IV, amelogenin (AMEL) was employed for the first time to prepare a protein-polymer bioconjugate via the ATRP technique. AMEL (~20 kDa) is the major protein component of the enamel extracellular matrix, playing an important role in enamel formation. Interestingly, it has a natural propensity to self-assemble in weakly alkaline conditions to form globular nanospheres, with a diameter typically around 30 nm [146]. This self-assembly behavior is highly affected by pH, giving AMEL a distinct solubility profile with a low solubility close to neutral pH, and a high solubility in acid (as soluble monomers) and alkaline conditions (as soluble nanospheres) [147].

As depicted in Figure 28, a hydrophilic initiator (2-bromoisobutanoic acid *N*-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS-BiB)) was first immobilized on the surface of the AMEL nanosphere to form the macroinitiator (AMEL initiator), followed by the controlled grafting of PNIPAm chains at room temperature to form AMEL-PNIPAm bioconjugate. The bioconjugate was characterized to determine its particle size, temperature and pH responsiveness, the number of polymer chains, and the molecular weight of the polymer.



Figure 28. The synthesis of pH and temperature dually responsive AMEL-PNIPAm bioconjugates via "grafting-from" ATRP polymerization.

Dynamic light scattering (DLS) was used to investigate the size of the conjugates below and above the low critical solution temperature (LCST) of PNIPAm. As shown in Figure 29, the size of AMEL-PNIPAm nanosphere was 61.0 nm (PDI = 0.341) at 20 °C (Figure 29a). Upon heating to 40 °C, the particle size increased to 218.7 nm with an extremely narrow size distribution (PDI = 0.089) (Figure 29b). These results indicate the formation of uniform and stable nanoparticles from AMEL-PNIPAm.

The pH-responsiveness of the bioconjugate was also investigated. When lowering the pH of the solution to pH 3.2, the mean particle size was measured to be 16.2 nm (PDI = 0.284) (Figure 29c) at 20 °C, which can be explained by the high solubility and low propensity of AMEL to form self-assembled structures in

acidic solvents. Interestingly, the mean particle size increased to 286.9 nm (PDI = 0.094) upon heating to 40 °C (Figure 29d), indicating the formation of uniform and stable nanoparticles again.

The observed phenomena can be explained by the fact that PNIPAm undergoes rapid chain dehydration and aggregation when the environmental temperature increases to above its LCST ( $\approx$  32 °C), changing from a hydrophilic state to hydrophobic state. PNIPAm conferred its temperature responsiveness to the attached AMEL, leading to an amphiphilic bioconjugate when the environmental temperature was raised above the LCST. The dehydrated PNIPAm chains drove the amphiphilic AMEL-PNIPAm to self-assemble into larger particles composed of PNIPAm-rich core and AMEL-rich domain on the surface.

This pH and temperature dually responsive AMEL-PNIPAm bioconjugate could potentially act as a supramolecular carrier for controlled drug delivery in cancer therapy, for example, by responding to lower pH and temperature variation in tumor tissues.



Figure 29. Hydrodynamic particle size of a) AMEL-PNIPAm at pH 9.3 at 20 °C, b) AMEL-PNIPAm at pH 9.3 at 40 °C, c) AMEL-PNIPAm at pH 3.2 at 20 °C, and d) AMEL-PNIPAm at pH 3.2 at 40 °C. Dz stands for Z-average diameter.

# 5. Conclusions and future outlooks

ATRP provides facile access to produce polymer nanohybrids with precise control over the chemical composition, topology, and functionality under the undemanding reaction conditions. The high-efficiency click reaction enables to introduce a high density of affinity ligands into the polymer brushes via postpolymerization modifications. Polymer brushes prove to be very attractive for protein binding due to their soft and flexible structure that can provide rapid protein transport to binding sites. The swollen polymer brushes could provide sufficient internal space for a high amount of protein binding.

In Paper I and II, intermediate polymer brushes, pNIPAm-co-pGMA, either in the form of a random copolymer or block copolymer, were grown from initiator functionalized silica nanoparticles via the SI-ATRP technique in an organic solvent. The pNIPAm segments endowed the polymer brushes with thermoresponsive property and could increase the hydrophilicity of the brushes. The pGMA segments were utilized to introduce boronate affinity into the brushes via a high-efficiency click reaction. These polymer nanohybrids exhibited great efficiency for glycoprotein separation. More importantly, the thermo-responsive pNIPAm segment could serve as an intelligent "switch" that enabled to regulate the on/off adsorption of glycoproteins through controlling environmental temperature.

In Paper III, based on the block copolymer brushes developed in Paper II, a high density of clickable IDA ligands were introduced to polymer brushes for Histagged protein separation. The polymer nanohybrid exhibited high binding capacities towards His-tagged protein.

In Paper IV, a novel pH- and temperature-responsive protein-polymer bioconjugate was prepared by grafting pNIPAm chains on amelogenin nanospheres via ATRP in aqueous solution. The bioconjugate could selfassemble into uniform and stable nanoparticles with an extremely narrow size distribution, and the nanoassembly process could be regulated by simply varying the pH and temperature. The protein and the polymer components can be further modified through protein engineering and controlled radical polymerization techniques.

For future perspectives, new ATRP systems that allow fast and precise synthesis

of various polymer hybrids with more complex and precisely controlled architecture in environmentally benign and industrially scalable processes are highly desirable. Smart materials that can specifically self-assemble, self-repair, or interact under external stimuli are particularly interesting. Degradable and therapeutic bioconjugates that can be degraded to well-defined short primary chains and be cleared from the body are also particulary interesting. Nowadays, polymers can be grown from viruses, bacteria, or even living cells via ATRP. We believe that the combined molecular engineering from the bio- and the chemical directions will open great opportunities to fabricate more multifunctional hybrid materials for broad bioapplications including bioseparation, drug/gene delivery, tissue engineering, and biosensing.

# Acknowledgements

The memory of the first days when I came to Sweden for my PhD study four years ago is still fresh. I just cannot believe it is now close to the end of my PhD career. How time flies! It has been such a wonderful journey that I will never forget in my whole life. At this special moment, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the people who made my life here valuable and enjoyable.

First and foremost, my most sincere thanks belong to my supervisor Prof. Lei Ye. Thank you for your continuous and incredible support, guidance and encouragement throughout my PhD study. I have learned so much from you, which will definitely play a positive role in my life.

To my co-supervisor Dr. Johan Bonde, thank you very much for all your helpful suggestions and patient discussions in my research projects, especially in the amelogenin bioconjugate project, which will be of great help for my future career.

To Ulla Jeppsson, thank you very much for taking care of many trivial but important things during my PhD study. Your devotion has been invaluable. I wish you have great fun in your retirement time.

To Prof. Bin Lv, thank you for your warm reception when I went to Wuhan for short visit. I had very nice memory there. Thank you for your visits here in Sweden.

To Solmaz, thank you for taking care of our lab and keeping everything in order. Thank you for your kind help whenever I have scientific or non-scientific questions coming to you.

To Tongchang and Ka, thank you for your kind help both in scientific research and daily life when I arrived in Sweden.

I am grateful to all past and present members in my group. Clovia, Tania, Héctor, Tripta, Qianjin, Rui Lu, Weifeng, Huiting, Haiyue, Chen Liu, Fei Liu, Yingchun, Gosia, Kazuaki, Saori, Zul. I will never forget the great time we had together both in and out of the lab.

To all members in Pure and Applied Biochemistry Department. Prof. Leif Bulow, Per-Olof, Nélida, Sandeep, Manish, Karin, thank you very much for your help and support in the division. Our department is such a lovely place, and I am honored to be part of this big family. I will miss the laughter in our coffee room during lunch and fika time.

I would like to thank all my Chinese friends in Lund, Yi Ren, Chao Li, Geng Dong, Junsheng, Wei Zhang, Wenjun, Zhiwei, Meina, Lili, Yinsong, Hong Jiang, Fenying, Baoyi, Junhao, Bin Li, Hongduo, Feifei, Yi Lu, Lu Chen, Jingwen, Xianshao, Qi Shi, Chuanshuai, Xiaoyan, Kena, Jixing, Xun Su, Peibo, Xiaoya, Zhenjun, Yuchen, Jun Li, Fang Huang, Guanqun. Sorry that I cannot list all of the names here. It is really nice meeting you here in Sweden. I will remember all the funny parties and the group travelling we had together, which made my life here colorful.

Finally, I would like to thank my dear family. I could not achieve this without their endless love and support.

# References

(1) Prakash, S.; Malhotra, M.; Shao, W.; Tomaro-Duchesneau, C.; Abbasi, S. Polymeric nanohybrids and functionalized carbon nanotubes as drug delivery carriers for cancer therapy. *Adv. Drug Delivery Rev.* **2011**, *63* (14-15), 1340-1351.

(2) Chatterjee, S. G.; Chatterjee, S.; Ray, A. K.; Chakraborty, A. K. Graphenemetal oxide nanohybrids for toxic gas sensor: a review. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical* **2015**, *221*, 1170-1181.

(3) Krasia-Christoforou, T. Organic–inorganic polymer hybrids: synthetic strategies and applications. In *Hybrid and Hierarchical Composite Materials*; Springer: 2015; pp 11-63.

(4) Wang, Y.; Arandiyan, H.; Tahini, H. A.; Scott, J.; Tan, X.; Dai, H.; Gale, J. D.; Rohl, A. L.; Smith, S. C.; Amal, R. The controlled disassembly of mesostructured perovskites as an avenue to fabricating high performance nanohybrid catalysts. *Nat. Commun.* **2017**, *8*, 15553.

(5) Gaber, M.; Medhat, W.; Hany, M.; Saher, N.; Fang, J.-Y.; Elzoghby, A. Protein-lipid nanohybrids as emerging platforms for drug and gene delivery: challenges and outcomes. *J. Control. Release* **2017**, *254*, 75-91.

(6) Miculescu, M.; Thakur, V. K.; Miculescu, F.; Voicu, S. I. Graphene-based polymer nanocomposite membranes: a review. *Polym. Adv. Technol.* **2016**, *27*(7), 844-859.

(7) Figueira, R.; Silva, C. J.; Pereira, E. Organic-inorganic hybrid sol-gel coatings for metal corrosion protection: a review of recent progress. *J. Coat. Technol. Res.* **2015,** *12* (1), 1-35.

(8) Zhao, B.; Brittain, W. J. Polymer brushes: surface-immobilized macromolecules. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* **2000**, *25* (5), 677-710.

(9) Chen, M.; Briscoe, W. H.; Armes, S. P.; Klein, J. Lubrication at physiological pressures by polyzwitterionic brushes. *Science* **2009**, *323* (5922), 1698-1701.

(10) McCarthy, P.; Chattopadhyay, M.; Millhauser, G.; Tsarevsky, N.; Bombalski, L.; Matyjaszewski, K.; Shimmin, D.; Avdalovic, N.; Pohl, C. Nanoengineered analytical immobilized metal affinity chromatography stationary phase by atom transfer radical polymerization: Separation of synthetic prion peptides. *Anal. Biochem.* **2007**, *366* (1), 1-8.

(11) Kolb, H. C.; Finn, M.; Sharpless, K. B. Click chemistry: diverse chemical function from a few good reactions. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2001,** *40* (11), 2004-2021.

(12) Liang, L.; Astruc, D. The copper (I)-catalyzed alkyne-azide cycloaddition (CuAAC) "click" reaction and its applications. An overview. *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **2011**, *255* (23-24), 2933-2945.

(13) Lutz, J.-F.; Börner, H. G. Modern trends in polymer bioconjugates design. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* **2008**, *33* (1), 1-39.

(14) Nicolas, J.; Mantovani, G.; Haddleton, D. M. Living radical polymerization as a tool for the synthesis of polymer-protein/peptide bioconjugates. *Macromol. Rapid Commun.* **2007**, *28* (10), 1083-1111.

(15) Kizhakkedathu, J. N.; Kumar, K. R.; Goodman, D.; Brooks, D. E. Synthesis and characterization of well-defined hydrophilic block copolymer brushes by aqueous ATRP. *Polymer* **2004**, *45* (22), 7471-7489.

(16) Barbey, R.; Lavanant, L.; Paripovic, D.; Schuwer, N.; Sugnaux, C.; Tugulu, S.; Klok, H.-A. Polymer brushes via surface-initiated controlled radical polymerization: synthesis, characterization, properties, and applications. *Chem. Rev.* **2009**, *109* (11), 5437-5527.

(17) Zoppe, J. O.; Ataman, N. C.; Mocny, P.; Wang, J.; Moraes, J.; Klok, H.-A. Surface-initiated controlled radical polymerization: state-of-the-art, opportunities, and challenges in surface and interface engineering with polymer brushes. *Chem. Rev.* **2017**, *117* (3), 1105-1318.

(18) Hui, C. M.; Pietrasik, J.; Schmitt, M.; Mahoney, C.; Choi, J.; Bockstaller, M. R.; Matyjaszewski, K. Surface-initiated polymerization as an enabling tool for multifunctional (nano-) engineered hybrid materials. *Chem. Mater.* **2013**, *26* (1), 745-762.

(19) Hansson, S.; Trouillet, V.; Tischer, T.; Goldmann, A. S.; Carlmark, A.; Barner-Kowollik, C.; Malmström, E. Grafting efficiency of synthetic polymers onto biomaterials: a comparative study of grafting-from versus grafting-to. *Biomacromolecules* **2012**, *14* (1), 64-74.

(20) Falatach, R.; McGlone, C.; Al-Abdul-Wahid, M. S.; Averick, S.; Page, R. C.; Berberich, J. A.; Konkolewicz, D. The best of both worlds: active enzymes by grafting-to followed by grafting-from a protein. *Chem. Commun.* **2015**, *51* (25), 5343-5346.

(21) Nebhani, L.; Schmiedl, D.; Barner, L.; Barner-Kowollik, C. Quantification of grafting densities achieved via modular "grafting-to" approaches onto divinylbenzene microspheres. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2010**, *20* (12), 2010-2020.

(22) Schüll, C.; Nuhn, L.; Mangold, C.; Christ, E.; Zentel, R.; Frey, H. Linearhyperbranched graft-copolymers via grafting-to strategy based on hyperbranched dendron analogues and reactive ester polymers. *Macromolecules* **2012**, *45* (15), 5901-5910.

(23) Emilsson, G.; Schoch, R. L.; Feuz, L.; Höök, F.; Lim, R. Y.; Dahlin, A. B. Strongly stretched protein resistant poly (ethylene glycol) brushes prepared by grafting-to. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2015**, *7* (14), 7505-7515.

(24) Chadwick, R. C.; Khan, U.; Coleman, J. N.; Adronov, A. Polymer grafting to single-walled carbon nanotubes: Effect of chain length on solubility, graft density and mechanical properties of macroscopic structures. *Small* **2013**, *9* (4), 552-560.

(25) Sumerlin, B. S., Proteins as initiators of controlled radical polymerization: grafting-from via ATRP and RAFT. ACS Publications: 2011.

(26) Averick, S.; Simakova, A.; Park, S.; Konkolewicz, D.; Magenau, A. J.; Mehl, R. A.; Matyjaszewski, K. ATRP under biologically relevant conditions: grafting from a protein. *ACS Macro Letters* **2011**, *1* (1), 6-10.

(27) Matyjaszewski, K. Atom transfer radical polymerization (ATRP): current status and future perspectives. *Macromolecules* **2012**, *45* (10), 4015-4039.

(28) Matyjaszewski, K.; Xia, J. Atom transfer radical polymerization. *Chem. Rev.* **2001**, *101* (9), 2921-2990.

(29) Wang, J.-S.; Matyjaszewski, K. Controlled/ "living" radical polymerization. Atom transfer radical polymerization in the presence of transition-metal complexes. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1995**, *117* (20), 5614-5615.

(30) Wang, J.-S.; Matyjaszewski, K. Controlled/ "living" radical polymerization. Halogen atom transfer radical polymerization promoted by a Cu(I)/Cu(II) redox process. *Macromolecules* **1995**, *28* (23), 7901-7910.

(31) Kato, M.; Kamigaito, M.; Sawamoto, M.; Higashimura, T. Polymerization of methyl methacrylate with the carbon tetrachloride/dichlorotris-(triphenylphosphine) ruthenium (II)/methylaluminum bis (2, 6-di-tert-butylphenoxide) initiating system: possibility of living radical polymerization. *Macromolecules* **1995**, *28* (5), 1721-1723.

(32) Coessens, V.; Pintauer, T.; Matyjaszewski, K. Functional polymers by atom transfer radical polymerization. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* **2001**, *26* (3), 337-377.

(33) Wang, T.-L.; Liu, Y.-Z.; Jeng, B.-C.; Cai, Y.-C. The effect of initiators and reaction conditions on the polymer syntheses by atom transfer radical polymerization. *J. Polym. Res.* **2005**, *12* (2), 67-75.

(34) Shahabuddin, S.; Hamime Ismail, F.; Mohamad, S.; Muhamad Sarih, N. Synthesis of well-defined three-arm star-branched polystyrene through arm-first coupling approach by atom transfer radical polymerization. *International Journal of Polymer Science* **2015**, *2015*.

(35) Qin, S.; Saget, J.; Pyun, J.; Jia, S.; Kowalewski, T.; Matyjaszewski, K. Synthesis of block, statistical, and gradient copolymers from octadecyl (meth) acrylates using atom transfer radical polymerization. *Macromolecules* **2003**, *36* (24), 8969-8977.

(36) Wang, Y.; Kwak, Y.; Buback, J.; Buback, M.; Matyjaszewski, K. Determination of ATRP equilibrium constants under polymerization conditions. *ACS Macro Letters* **2012**, *1* (12), 1367-1370.

(37) Lazzari, M.; Chiantore, O.; Mendichi, R.; López-Quintela, M. A. Synthesis of polyacrylonitrile-block-polystyrene copolymers by atom transfer radical polymerization. *Macromol. Chem. Phys.* **2005**, *206* (14), 1382-1388.

(38) Teodorescu, M.; Matyjaszewski, K. Atom transfer radical polymerization of (meth) acrylamides. *Macromolecules* **1999**, *32* (15), 4826-4831.

(39) Wang, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Parker, B.; Matyjaszewski, K. ATRP of MMA with ppm levels of iron catalyst. *Macromolecules* **2011**, *44* (11), 4022-4025.

(40) Duquesne, E.; Degée, P.; Habimana, J.; Dubois, P. Supported nickel bromide catalyst for Atom Transfer Radical Polymerization (ATRP) of methyl methacrylate. *Chem. Commun.* **2004**, (6), 640-641.

(41) Le Grognec, E.; Claverie, J.; Poli, R. Radical polymerization of styrene controlled by half-sandwich Mo (III)/Mo (IV) couples: all basic mechanisms are possible. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2001**, *123* (39), 9513-9524.

(42) Kotani, Y.; Kamigaito, M.; Sawamoto, M. Re (V)-Mediated Living Radical Polymerization of Styrene: ReO<sub>2</sub>I (PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>/R-I Initiating Systems. *Macromolecules* **1999**, *32* (8), 2420-2424.

(43) Lecomte, P.; Drapier, I.; Dubois, P.; Teyssié, P.; Jérôme, R. Controlled radical polymerization of methyl methacrylate in the presence of palladium acetate, triphenylphosphine, and carbon tetrachloride. *Macromolecules* **1997**, *30* (24), 7631-7633.

(44) Wei, Y.; Zhang, Q.; Wang, W.-J.; Li, B.-G.; Zhu, S. Improvement on stability of polymeric latexes prepared by emulsion ATRP through copper removal using electrolysis. *Polymer* **2016**, *106*, 261-266.

(45) Wei, Y.; Liu, P.; Wang, W.-J.; Li, B.-G.; Zhu, S. Well-controlled and stable emulsion ATRP of MMA with low surfactant concentration using surfactant-ligand design as the copper capture agent. *Polymer Chemistry* **2015**, *6* (15), 2837-2843.

(46) Li, M.; Liu, C.; Hong, C.-Y.; Pan, C.-Y. Synthesis of graft copolymer with pendant macrocycles via combination of ATRP and click chemistry. *Polymer* **2015**, *71*, 23-30.

(47) Panahian, P.; Salami-Kalajahi, M.; Hosseini, M. S. Synthesis of dual thermoresponsive and pH-sensitive hollow nanospheres by atom transfer radical polymerization. *J. Polym. Res.* **2014**, *21* (6), 455.

(48) Nagase, K.; Kumazaki, M.; Kanazawa, H.; Kobayashi, J.; Kikuci, A.; Akiyama, Y.; Annaka, M.; Okano, T. Thermoresponsive polymer brush surfaces with hydrophobic groups for all-aqueous chromatography. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2010**, *2* (4), 1247-1253.

(49) Matyjaszewski, K.; Jakubowski, W.; Min, K.; Tang, W.; Huang, J.; Braunecker, W. A.; Tsarevsky, N. V. Diminishing catalyst concentration in atom transfer radical polymerization with reducing agents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **2006**, *103* (42), 15309-15314.

(50) Rodda, A. E.; Ercole, F.; Nisbet, D. R.; Forsythe, J. S.; Meagher, L. Optimization of aqueous SI-ATRP grafting of poly (oligo (ethylene glycol) methacrylate) brushes from benzyl chloride macroinitiator surfaces. *Macromol. Biosci.* **2015**, *15* (6), 799-811.

(51) Tang, W.; Kwak, Y.; Braunecker, W.; Tsarevsky, N. V.; Coote, M. L.; Matyjaszewski, K. Understanding atom transfer radical polymerization: effect of ligand and initiator structures on the equilibrium constants. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2008**, *130* (32), 10702-10713.

(52) Krys, P.; Matyjaszewski, K. Kinetics of atom transfer radical polymerization. *Eur. Polym. J.* **2017**, *89*, 482-523.

(53) Matyjaszewski, K.; Patten, T. E.; Xia, J. Controlled/"living" radical polymerization. Kinetics of the homogeneous atom transfer radical polymerization of styrene. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1997**, *119* (4), 674-680.

(54) Mastan, E.; Zhu, S. A molecular weight distribution polydispersity equation for the ATRP system: quantifying the effect of radical termination. *Macromolecules* **2015**, *48* (18), 6440-6449.

(55) Morinaga, T.; Ohkura, M.; Ohno, K.; Tsujii, Y.; Fukuda, T. Monodisperse silica particles grafted with concentrated oxetane-carrying polymer brushes:

Their synthesis by surface-initiated atom transfer radical polymerization and use for fabrication of hollow spheres. *Macromolecules* **2007**, *40* (4), 1159-1164.

(56) Wang, J.; He, X.; Chen, L.; Zhang, Y. Boronic acid functionalized magnetic nanoparticles synthesized by atom transfer radical polymerization and their application for selective enrichment of glycoproteins. *RSC Advances* **2016**, *6* (52), 47055-47061.

(57) Wei, Q.; Ji, J.; Shen, J. Synthesis of near-infrared responsive gold nanorod/pnipaam core/shell nanohybrids via surface initiated atrp for smart drug delivery. *Macromol. Rapid Commun.* **2008**, *29* (8), 645-650.

(58) Bach, L. G.; Islam, M. R.; Lee, D. C.; Lim, K. T. Poly (glycidyl methacrylate) grafted CdSe quantum dots by surface-initiated atom transfer radical polymerization: Novel synthesis, characterization, properties, and cytotoxicity studies. *Appl. Surf. Sci.* **2013**, *283*, 546-553.

(59) Jeyaprakash, J.; Samuel, S.; Dhamodharan, R.; Rühe, J. Polymer brushes via ATRP: Role of activator and deactivator in the surface-initiated ATRP of styrene on planar substrates. *Macromol. Rapid Commun.* **2002**, *23* (4), 277-281.

(60) Matyjaszewski, K.; Miller, P. J.; Shukla, N.; Immaraporn, B.; Gelman, A.; Luokala, B. B.; Siclovan, T. M.; Kickelbick, G.; Vallant, T.; Hoffmann, H. Polymers at interfaces: using atom transfer radical polymerization in the controlled growth of homopolymers and block copolymers from silicon surfaces in the absence of untethered sacrificial initiator. *Macromolecules* **1999**, *32* (26), 8716-8724.

(61) Duxbury, C. J.; Wang, W.; de Geus, M.; Heise, A.; Howdle, S. M. Can block copolymers be synthesized by a single-step chemoenzymatic route in supercritical carbon dioxide? *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2005**, *127* (8), 2384-2385.

(62) Xie, M.; Han, H.; Ding, L.; Shi, J. Promotion of atom transfer radical polymerization and ring-opening metathesis polymerization in ionic liquids. *Polym. Rev.* **2009**, *49* (4), 315-338.

(63) Perrier, S.; Gemici, H.; Li, S. Poly (ethylene glycol) as solvent for transition metal mediated living radical polymerisation. *Chem. Commun.* **2004**, (5), 604-605.

(64) Simakova, A.; Averick, S. E.; Konkolewicz, D.; Matyjaszewski, K. Aqueous ARGET ATRP. *Macromolecules* **2012**, *45* (16), 6371-6379.

(65) Jones, D. M.; Brown, A. A.; Huck, W. T. Surface-initiated polymerizations in aqueous media: effect of initiator density. *Langmuir* **2002**, *18* (4), 1265-1269.

(66) Edmondson, S.; Vo, C.-D.; Armes, S. P.; Unali, G.-F.; Weir, M. P. Layerby-layer deposition of polyelectrolyte macroinitiators for enhanced initiator density in surface-initiated ATRP. *Langmuir* **2008**, *24* (14), 7208-7215.

(67) Tsarevsky, N. V.; Pintauer, T.; Matyjaszewski, K. Deactivation efficiency and degree of control over polymerization in ATRP in protic solvents. *Macromolecules* **2004**, *37* (26), 9768-9778.

(68) Tsarevsky, N. V.; Braunecker, W. A.; Vacca, A.; Gans, P.; Matyjaszewski, K. In *Competitive equilibria in atom transfer radical polymerization*, Macromol. Symp., Wiley Online Library: 2007; pp 60-70.

(69) Tsarevsky, N. V.; Matyjaszewski, K. Environmentally benign atom transfer radical polymerization: towards "green" processes and materials. *J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem.* **2006,** *44* (17), 5098-5112.

(70) Fischer, H. The persistent radical effect: a principle for selective radical reactions and living radical polymerizations. *Chem. Rev.* **2001**, *101* (12), 3581-3610.

(71) Lamson, M.; Kopeć, M.; Ding, H.; Zhong, M.; Matyjaszewski, K. Synthesis of well-defined polyacrylonitrile by ICAR ATRP with low concentrations of catalyst. *J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem.* **2016**, *54* (13), 1961-1968.

(72) Konkolewicz, D.; Magenau, A. J.; Averick, S. E.; Simakova, A.; He, H.; Matyjaszewski, K. ICAR ATRP with ppm Cu Catalyst in Water. *Macromolecules* **2012**, *45* (11), 4461-4468.

(73) Jakubowski, W.; Matyjaszewski, K. Activators regenerated by electron transfer for atom-transfer radical polymerization of (meth) acrylates and related block copolymers. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2006**, *45* (27), 4482-4486.

(74) Jakubowski, W.; Min, K.; Matyjaszewski, K. Activators regenerated by electron transfer for atom transfer radical polymerization of styrene. *Macromolecules* **2006**, *39* (1), 39-45.

(75) Jakubowski, W.; Matyjaszewski, K. Activator generated by electron transfer for atom transfer radical polymerization. *Macromolecules* **2005**, *38* (10), 4139-4146.

(76) Min, K.; Gao, H.; Matyjaszewski, K. Preparation of homopolymers and block copolymers in miniemulsion by ATRP using activators generated by electron transfer (AGET). *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2005**, *127* (11), 3825-3830.

(77) Min, K.; Gao, H.; Matyjaszewski, K. Use of ascorbic acid as reducing agent for synthesis of well-defined polymers by ARGET ATRP. *Macromolecules* **2007**, *40* (6), 1789-1791.

(78) Dong, H.; Tang, W.; Matyjaszewski, K. Well-defined high-molecularweight polyacrylonitrile via activators regenerated by electron transfer ATRP. *Macromolecules* **2007**, *40* (9), 2974-2977.

(79) Konkolewicz, D.; Krys, P.; Góis, J. R.; Mendonça, P. V.; Zhong, M.; Wang, Y.; Gennaro, A.; Isse, A. A.; Fantin, M.; Matyjaszewski, K. Aqueous RDRP in the presence of Cu<sup>0</sup>: The exceptional activity of CuI confirms the SARA ATRP mechanism. *Macromolecules* **2014**, *47* (2), 560-570.

(80) Matyjaszewski, K.; Tsarevsky, N. V.; Braunecker, W. A.; Dong, H.; Huang, J.; Jakubowski, W.; Kwak, Y.; Nicolay, R.; Tang, W.; Yoon, J. A. Role of Cu<sup>0</sup> in controlled/"living" radical polymerization. *Macromolecules* **2007**, *40* (22), 7795-7806.

(81) Abreu, C. M.; Mendonça, P. V.; Serra, A. n. C.; Popov, A. V.; Matyjaszewski, K.; Guliashvili, T.; Coelho, J. F. Inorganic sulfites: Efficient reducing agents and supplemental activators for atom transfer radical polymerization. *ACS Macro Letters* **2012**, *1* (11), 1308-1311.

(82) Abreu, C. M.; Fu, L.; Carmali, S.; Serra, A. C.; Matyjaszewski, K.; Coelho, J. F. Aqueous SARA ATRP using inorganic sulfites. *Polymer chemistry* **2017**, *8* (2), 375-387.

(83) Magenau, A. J.; Strandwitz, N. C.; Gennaro, A.; Matyjaszewski, K. Electrochemically mediated atom transfer radical polymerization. *Science* **2011**, *332* (6025), 81-84.

(84) Bortolamei, N.; Isse, A. A.; Magenau, A. J.; Gennaro, A.; Matyjaszewski, K. Controlled aqueous atom transfer radical polymerization with electrochemical generation of the active catalyst. *Angew. Chem.* **2011**, *123* (48), 11593-11596.

(85) Chmielarz, P.; Park, S.; Simakova, A.; Matyjaszewski, K. Electrochemically mediated ATRP of acrylamides in water. *Polymer* **2015**, *60*, 302-307.

(86) Fantin, M.; Lorandi, F.; Isse, A. A.; Gennaro, A. Sustainable electrochemically-mediated atom transfer radical polymerization with inexpensive non-platinum electrodes. *Macromol. Rapid Commun.* **2016**, *37* (16), 1318-1322.

(87) Chen, M.; Zhong, M.; Johnson, J. A. Light-controlled radical polymerization: Mechanisms, methods, and applications. *Chem. Rev.* **2016**, *116* (17), 10167-10211.

(88) Pan, X.; Malhotra, N.; Simakova, A.; Wang, Z.; Konkolewicz, D.; Matyjaszewski, K. Photoinduced atom transfer radical polymerization with ppm-level Cu catalyst by visible light in aqueous media. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2015**, *137* (49), 15430-15433.

(89) Wang, Z.; Tan, B. H.; Hussain, H.; He, C. pH-responsive amphiphilic hybrid random-type copolymers of poly (acrylic acid) and poly (acrylate-POSS): synthesis by ATRP and self-assembly in aqueous solution. *Colloid Polym. Sci.* **2013**, *291* (8), 1803-1815.

(90) Paripovic, D.; Hall-Bozic, H.; Klok, H.-A. Osteoconductive surfaces generated from peptide functionalized poly (2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate-co-2-(methacryloyloxy) ethyl phosphate) brushes. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2012**, *22* (37), 19570-19578.

(91) Schild, H. G. Poly (N-isopropylacrylamide): experiment, theory and application. *Prog. Polym. Sci.* **1992**, *17* (2), 163-249.

(92) Edmondson, S.; Huck, W. T. Controlled growth and subsequent chemical modification of poly (glycidyl methacrylate) brushes on silicon wafers. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2004**, *14* (4), 730-734.

(93) Pan, K.; Zhang, X.; Ren, R.; Cao, B. Double stimuli-responsive membranes grafted with block copolymer by ATRP method. *J. Membr. Sci.* **2010**, *356* (1-2), 133-137.

(94) Huang, W.; Kim, J.-B.; Baker, G. L.; Bruening, M. L. Preparation of amphiphilic triblock copolymer brushes for surface patterning. *Nanotechnology* **2003**, *14* (10), 1075.

(95) Tomlinson, M. R.; Efimenko, K.; Genzer, J. Study of kinetics and macroinitiator efficiency in surface-initiated atom-transfer radical polymerization. *Macromolecules* **2006**, *39* (26), 9049-9056.

(96) Rikkou-Kalourkoti, M.; Matyjaszewski, K.; Patrickios, C. S. Synthesis, characterization and thermolysis of hyperbranched homo-and amphiphilic copolymers prepared using an inimer bearing a thermolyzable acylal group. *Macromolecules* **2012**, *45* (3), 1313-1320.

(97) Mori, H.; Seng, D. C.; Zhang, M.; Müller, A. H. Hybrid nanoparticles with hyperbranched polymer shells via self-condensing atom transfer radical polymerization from silica surfaces. *Langmuir* **2002**, *18* (9), 3682-3693.

(98) Mori, H.; Böker, A.; Krausch, G.; Müller, A. H. Surface-grafted hyperbranched polymers via self-condensing atom transfer radical polymerization from silicon surfaces. *Macromolecules* **2001**, *34* (20), 6871-6882.

(99) Tsarevsky, N. V.; Huang, J.; Matyjaszewski, K. Synthesis of hyperbranched degradable polymers by atom transfer radical (co) polymerization of inimers with ester or disulfide groups. *J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem.* **2009**, *47* (24), 6839-6851.

(100) Xu, F.; Zhong, S.; Yung, L.; Tong, Y.; Kang, E.-T.; Neoh, K. Thermoresponsive comb-shaped copolymer-Si (1 0 0) hybrids for accelerated temperature-dependent cell detachment. *Biomaterials* **2006**, *27* (8), 1236-1245.

(101) Yu, W.; Kang, E.; Neoh, K. Controlled grafting of comb copolymer brushes on poly (tetrafluoroethylene) films by surface-initiated living radical polymerizations. *Langmuir* **2005**, *21* (1), 450-456.

(102) Li, X.; Qian, Y.; Liu, T.; Hu, X.; Zhang, G.; You, Y.; Liu, S. Amphiphilic multiarm star block copolymer-based multifunctional unimolecular micelles for cancer targeted drug delivery and MR imaging. *Biomaterials* **2011**, *32* (27), 6595-6605.

(103) Jakubowski, W.; Tsarevsky, N. V.; Higashihara, T.; Faust, R.; Matyjaszewski, K. Allyl halide (macro) initiators in ATRP: synthesis of block copolymers with polyisobutylene segments. *Macromolecules* **2008**, *41* (7), 2318-2323.

(104) Tsarevsky, N. V.; Sumerlin, B. S.; Matyjaszewski, K. Step-growth "click" coupling of telechelic polymers prepared by atom transfer radical polymerization. *Macromolecules* **2005**, *38* (9), 3558-3561.

(105) Tsarevsky, N. V.; Matyjaszewski, K. Combining atom transfer radical polymerization and disulfide/thiol redox chemistry: a route to well-defined (bio) degradable polymeric materials. *Macromolecules* **2005**, *38* (8), 3087-3092.

(106) Bontempo, D.; Heredia, K. L.; Fish, B. A.; Maynard, H. D. Cysteinereactive polymers synthesized by atom transfer radical polymerization for conjugation to proteins. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *126* (47), 15372-15373.

(107) Magnusson, J. P.; Bersani, S.; Salmaso, S.; Alexander, C.; Caliceti, P. In Situ Growth of Side-Chain PEG Polymers from Functionalized Human Growth Hormone–A New Technique for Preparation of Enhanced Protein-Polymer Conjugates. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2010**, *21* (4), 671-678.

(108) Qi, K.; Ma, Q.; Remsen, E. E.; Clark, C. G.; Wooley, K. L. Determination of the bioavailability of biotin conjugated onto shell cross-linked (SCK) nanoparticles. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *126* (21), 6599-6607.

(109) Tsarevsky, N. V.; Jakubowski, W. Atom transfer radical polymerization of functional monomers employing Cu-based catalysts at low concentration: Polymerization of glycidyl methacrylate. *J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem.* **2011**, *49* (4), 918-925.

(110) Bao, H.; Li, L.; Gan, L. H.; Ping, Y.; Li, J.; Ravi, P. Thermo-and pH-responsive association behavior of dual hydrophilic graft chitosan terpolymer

synthesized via ATRP and click chemistry. *Macromolecules* **2010**, *43* (13), 5679-5687.

(111) Dong, R.; Krishnan, S.; Baird, B. A.; Lindau, M.; Ober, C. K. Patterned biofunctional poly (acrylic acid) brushes on silicon surfaces. *Biomacromolecules* **2007**, *8* (10), 3082-3092.

(112) Dai, J.; Bao, Z.; Sun, L.; Hong, S. U.; Baker, G. L.; Bruening, M. L. High-capacity binding of proteins by poly (acrylic acid) brushes and their derivatives. *Langmuir* **2006**, *22* (9), 4274-4281.

(113) Cullen, S. P.; Liu, X.; Mandel, I. C.; Himpsel, F. J.; Gopalan, P. Polymeric brushes as functional templates for immobilizing ribonuclease A: study of binding kinetics and activity. *Langmuir* **2008**, *24* (3), 913-920.

(114) Zhang, Z.; Chen, S.; Jiang, S. Dual-functional biomimetic materials: nonfouling poly (carboxybetaine) with active functional groups for protein immobilization. *Biomacromolecules* **2006**, *7* (12), 3311-3315.

(115) Wong, S. Y.; Putnam, D. Overcoming limiting side reactions associated with an NHS-activated precursor of polymethacrylamide-based polymers. *Bioconjugate Chem.* **2007**, *18* (3), 970-982.

(116) Huang, J.; Li, X.; Zheng, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Zhao, R.; Gao, X.; Yan, H. Immobilization of Penicillin G Acylase on Poly [(glycidyl methacrylate)-co-(glycerol monomethacrylate)]-Grafted Magnetic Microspheres. *Macromol. Biosci.* **2008**, *8* (6), 508-515.

(117) Huang, J.; Han, B.; Yue, W.; Yan, H. Magnetic polymer microspheres with polymer brushes and the immobilization of protein on the brushes. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2007**, *17* (36), 3812-3818.

(118) Hart, G. W.; Copeland, R. J. Glycomics hits the big time. *Cell* **2010**, *143* (5), 672-676.

(119) Liu, F.-T.; Bevins, C. L. A sweet target for innate immunity. *Nat. Med.* **2010**, *16* (3), 263.

(120) Astronomo, R. D.; Burton, D. R. Carbohydrate vaccines: developing sweet solutions to sticky situations? *Nat. Rev. Drug Discovery* **2010**, *9* (4), 308.

(121) Zhang, L.; Jiang, H.; Yao, J.; Wang, Y.; Fang, C.; Yang, P.; Lu, H. Highly specific enrichment of N-linked glycopeptides based on hydrazide functionalized soluble nanopolymers. *Chem. Commun.* **2014**, *50* (8), 1027-1029.

(122) Chen, R.; Jiang, X.; Sun, D.; Han, G.; Wang, F.; Ye, M.; Wang, L.; Zou, H. Glycoproteomics analysis of human liver tissue by combination of multiple

enzyme digestion and hydrazide chemistry. J. Proteome Res. 2009, 8 (2), 651-661.

(123) Huang, J.; Wan, H.; Yao, Y.; Li, J.; Cheng, K.; Mao, J.; Chen, J.; Wang, Y.; Qin, H.; Zhang, W. Highly efficient release of glycopeptides from hydrazide beads by hydroxylamine assisted PNGase F deglycosylation for N-glycoproteome analysis. *Anal. Chem.* **2015**, *87* (20), 10199-10204.

(124) Nand, A.; Singh, V.; Wang, P.; Na, J.; Zhu, J. Glycoprotein profiling of stem cells using lectin microarray based on surface plasmon resonance imaging. *Anal. Biochem.* **2014**, *465*, 114-120.

(125) Li, H.; Liu, Z. Recent advances in monolithic column-based boronate-affinity chromatography. *TrAC, Trends Anal. Chem.* **2012**, *37*, 148-161.

(126) Wang, S.; Ye, J.; Bie, Z.; Liu, Z. Affinity-tunable specific recognition of glycoproteins via boronate affinity-based controllable oriented surface imprinting. *Chemical Science* **2014**, *5* (3), 1135-1140.

(127) Pan, M.; Sun, Y.; Zheng, J.; Yang, W. Boronic acid-functionalized coreshell-shell magnetic composite microspheres for the selective enrichment of glycoprotein. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2013**, *5* (17), 8351-8358.

(128) Wang, H.; Bie, Z.; Lü, C.; Liu, Z. Magnetic nanoparticles with dendrimerassisted boronate avidity for the selective enrichment of trace glycoproteins. *Chemical Science* **2013**, *4* (11), 4298-4303.

(129) Porath, J.; Carlsson, J.; Olsson, I.; Belfrage, G. Metal chelate affinity chromatography, a new approach to protein fractionation. *Nature* **1975**, *258* (5536), 598.

(130) Porath, J. Immobilized metal ion affinity chromatography. *Protein Expr. Purif.* **1992**, *3* (4), 263-281.

(131) Zhang, Y.; Yang, Y.; Ma, W.; Guo, J.; Lin, Y.; Wang, C. Uniform magnetic core/shell microspheres functionalized with Ni<sup>2+</sup>-iminodiacetic acid for one step purification and immobilization of his-tagged enzymes. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2013**, *5* (7), 2626-2633.

(132) Xu, C.; Xu, K.; Gu, H.; Zhong, X.; Guo, Z.; Zheng, R.; Zhang, X.; Xu, B. Nitrilotriacetic acid-modified magnetic nanoparticles as a general agent to bind histidine-tagged proteins. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2004**, *126* (11), 3392-3393.

(133) Young, C. L.; Britton, Z. T.; Robinson, A. S. Recombinant protein expression and purification: a comprehensive review of affinity tags and microbial applications. *Biotechnol. J.* **2012**, *7* (5), 620-634.

(134) Zhao, X.; Li, G.; Liang, S. Several affinity tags commonly used in chromatographic purification. *Journal of analytical methods in chemistry* **2013**, *2013*.

(135) Xu, F.; Geiger, J. H.; Baker, G. L.; Bruening, M. L. Polymer brushmodified magnetic nanoparticles for His-tagged protein purification. *Langmuir* **2011**, *27* (6), 3106-3112.

(136) Li, S.; Yang, K.; Zhao, B.; Li, X.; Liu, L.; Chen, Y.; Zhang, L.; Zhang, Y. Epitope imprinting enhanced IMAC (EI-IMAC) for highly selective purification of His-tagged protein. *Journal of Materials Chemistry B* **2016**, *4* (11), 1960-1967.

(137) Plieva, F.; Bober, B.; Dainiak, M.; Galaev, I. Y.; Mattiasson, B. Macroporous polyacrylamide monolithic gels with immobilized metal affinity ligands: the effect of porous structure and ligand coupling chemistry on protein binding. *J. Mol. Recognit.* **2006**, *19* (4), 305-312.

(138) Kaufmann, M. Unstable proteins: how to subject them to chromatographic separations for purification procedures. *Journal of Chromatography B: Biomedical Sciences and Applications* **1997**, *699* (1-2), 347-369.

(139) Ghosh, R. Protein separation using membrane chromatography: opportunities and challenges. J. Chromatogr. A 2002, 952 (1-2), 13-27.

(140) Cai, K.; Tan, Y.; Tan, C.; Wu, J.; Wu, P.; Liang, J.; Liu, S.; Zhang, B.; Jiang, Y. An iminodiacetate-modified conjugated polyelectrolyte for fluorescent labeling of histidine-tagged proteins. *Chem. Commun.* **2017**, *53* (30), 4191-4194.

(141) Qi, Y.; Chilkoti, A. Growing polymers from peptides and proteins: a biomedical perspective. *Polymer Chemistry* **2014**, *5* (2), 266-276.

(142) Wallat, J. D.; Rose, K. A.; Pokorski, J. K. Proteins as substrates for controlled radical polymerization. *Polymer Chemistry* **2014**, *5* (5), 1545-1558.

(143) Peeler, J. C.; Woodman, B. F.; Averick, S.; Miyake-Stoner, S. J.; Stokes, A. L.; Hess, K. R.; Matyjaszewski, K.; Mehl, R. A. Genetically encoded initiator for polymer growth from proteins. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2010**, *132* (39), 13575-13577.

(144) Yaşayan, G.; Saeed, A. O.; Fernández-Trillo, F.; Allen, S.; Davies, M. C.; Jangher, A.; Paul, A.; Thurecht, K. J.; King, S. M.; Schweins, R. Responsive hybrid block co-polymer conjugates of proteins-controlled architecture to modulate substrate specificity and solution behaviour. *Polymer Chemistry* **2011**, *2* (7), 1567-1578.

(145) Zhu, B.; Lu, D.; Ge, J.; Liu, Z. Uniform polymer-protein conjugate by aqueous AGET ATRP using protein as a macroinitiator. *Acta Biomater.* **2011**, *7* (5), 2131-2138.

(146) Margolis, H.; Beniash, E.; Fowler, C. Role of macromolecular assembly of enamel matrix proteins in enamel formation. *J. Dent. Res.* **2006**, *85* (9), 775-793.

(147) Bonde, J.; Bülow, L. Random mutagenesis of amelogenin for engineering protein nanoparticles. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **2015**, *112* (7), 1319-1326.